1. Adoption of Agenda
2. Presentation(s):
2.1 Tom Kertes and the Community Builders Group
3. Approval of the Minutes of the
3.1 Open Board Meeting Held on November 18, 2025 (p. 3)
4. Necessity of Closed Meeting and Agenda
4.1 Approval of Agenda
42 Approval of Minutes of the In-Camera Meeting held November 18, 2025
43 Human Resources Report
44 Secretary-Treasurer's Report
4.5 Other
4.6 Legal Items
47 Information Items
4.8 Old Business
4.9 Items for Release
5 Correspondence
5.1 Addressed to the Board
5.1.1  November 20, 2025 letter from PRDTU re: Concerns Regarding the
Direction of Early Learning and Literacy in SD52 (p. 10)
52 Copied to the Board

5.2.1

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

AGENDA

REGULAR OPEN SCHOOL BOARD MEETING
MEETING HELD AT BOOTH MEETING ROOM
AND ON ZOOM
Tuesday, December 16, 2025- 7:00 P.M.

Review the Inclusive Education Funding Model (p. 13)

6. Superintendent of Schools’ Report

6.1

7.1
7.2
7.3
74
7.5

For Board Information:

6.1.1  Field Trips (p 15)
6.1.2  Enrolment

6.1.2.1 Enrolment graph (p. 16)

6.1.3  Upcoming Projects/Learning/Other

Secretary-Treasurer’s Report

Statement of Operations November 2025 (p. 17)

November 2025 Operations Department Reports (p. 19)

November 2025 Information Technology Department Report (p. 20)
Statement of Financial Information Report (p. 21)

ABC Meeting Schedule (p. 79)

Page 1 of 2

November 6, 2025 letter from SD 8 to Minister Beare re: Request to

1 of 98



10.

11.

12.

13.

7.6 KPMG Report on Agreed-Upon Procedures {(p. 80)

Committee Reports

8.1 Finance & Building Committee (Trustees Beil, Maier, Horne)
8.2 Framework for Enhancing Student Learning (Trustees Horne, Toye)
8.3 Provincial Council (Trustees Horne, Sanchez)
8.4 Policy Committee (Trustees Maier, Toye)

84.1 December 8, 2025 Meeting minutes (p. 84)
8.4.2  Policies for Approval
8.4.2.1 2110 — Staff Recruitment and Retention Policy (p.85)
8.4.2.2 1340 - Response to Unexpected Health Emergencies Policy (p.
88)
8.4.3  Policies for Review
8.4.3.1 2370- Remote Work Policy (p. 90)
8.4.3.2 6510 —-Board Communications Policy (p. 95)
8433 6610~ Making Policy and Regulations Policy (p. 96)
8.5 District Technology Steering Committee (Trustee Horne)
Old Business
New Business
Information ltems
11.1  Winter Break, December 22, 2025 to January 2, 2026
11.2  School Board Office closure, Dec 23, 2025 to Jan 2, 2026, Inclusive
11.3  Board of Education Meeting, January 20, 2026
114 Pro-D Elementary & Middle School, January 23, 2026

10 Minute Question and Answer Period

Adjournment

Page 2 of 2 20f 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

MINUTES

REGULAR OPEN SCHOOL BOARD MEETING
MEETING HELD IN THE BOOTH MEETING ROOM
Tuesday, November 18, 2025 - 7:00 P.M.

Trustees Present: J. Beil, K. Maier,J. Horne. K. Toye

Staff Present: A. Samoil, E. Vazquez, T. Dickens, A. Lihou, R. Edzerza, P. Khaira, K. Macllroy, L.
Burger, C.Rourke

Regrets: M. Pucci, D. Dalton, L. Sanchez

Vice-Chair Maier acknowledged that the meeting is being held on traditional Ts'msyen territory. The
meeting was called to order at 7:05 p.m.

1. Adoption of Agenda
Motion 20251118-1.0a
Beil “Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne (Prince Rupert) that the Agenda is approved as presented.”
Carried
2. Presentation

Director of Instruction, Lori Burger introduced Billy Nelson and the Git Waas Drumming group.

Mr. Nelson presented on the CHSS Git Waas Student Drumming Group. Four drummers
attended the board meeting and performed two songs written by two of the students. The
performance was a moving display of the pride they feel for their Indigenous heritage and
culture.

Mr. Nelson shared how this group of students has helped him in so many ways. He went on
to say “This group has demonstrated that nations can unite, and they have created harmony
among many tribes. "

Vice-Chair Maier expressed “We were honored to welcome the Git Waas Drumming Group
led by Billy Nelson. Their original songs were inspiring, and we are looking forward to
experiencing more of their incredible work.

3 Approval of the Minutes of the
3.1 Open Board Meeting held October 21, 2025

Motion 20251118-3.1

Horne “Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Beil (Prince Rupert) that the minutes of the open Board meeting held
October 21, 2025 be approved as amended”, Carried

p.3 Correction to minutes under policy committee to change from Trustee Toye presented to Trustee
Maier.

Page 1 of 7 3 0f 98



3.2 Open Board Meeting Held on November 4, 2025

Motion 20251118-3.2

Beil "Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52

Horne (Prince Rupert) that the minutes of the open Board meeting held
November 18, 2025 be approved as presented”,

~ Carried

4, Necessity of Closed Meetings and Agenda
4.1 Approval of Agenda
42 Approval of Minutes of the In-Camera Meeting held October 21, 2025.
43 Human Resources Report
4.4 Secretary-Treasurer's Report
4.5 Other
4.6 Legal Items
4.7 Information Items
4.8 Old Business
B 4.9 Items for Release
Motion 20251118-4.0a
Beil "Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne (Prince Rupert) that the closed meeting be held and that agenda
items 1 through 9 be approved.” Carried

5. Correspondence
5.1 Addressed to the Board
None

5.2 Copied to the Board
5.2.1  October 16, 2025 letter from SD 8 to Minister of Transportation and

Transit
= 522  October 27, 2025 letter from SD 60 to Dana Dmytro

Motion 20251118-5.2a
Beil “Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne ~ (Prince Rupert) that Item 5.2.1 to 5.2.2 be received and filed.” ~ Carried
Motion 20251118-5.2b
Beil “Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne (Prince Rupert) that the letter in 5.2.2 be discussed at the Branch

meeting in Vancouver and in sequence the Board write a letter in

support.” - - ~ Carried |

6. Superintendent of Schools Report
6.1 For Board Information:

6.1.1  Field Trips
The Superintendent presented the list of approved field trips and answered
questions from Trustees.

6.1.2  Enrolment
The Director of Instruction, Carla Rourke reported enrolment is 1785 on

Page 2 of 7 4 0of 98



October 31, 2025.

6.1.2.1 Enrolment graph
Review of graph and trends.

6.1.3  Upcoming Projects/Learning/Other
Superintendent Samoil shared that:

Schools honored and remembered veterans’ service and sacrifices on
National Indigenous Veterans Day and Remembrance Day. At CHSS
Student Voice worked hard to plan ceremonies. Git Waas and the Cadets
drummed and marched through the hallways followed by ceremonies in
the gymnasium.

Grade 4 FSA's were done last week.

Students from the NITEP program have been attending classes around
the district to observe. SD52 has many employees enrolled in this
program.

Elementary schools have begun preparing for winter concerts. Some
schools are holding family craft nights to enjoy the festivities during
December.

The Port of Prince Rupert will be visiting schools to have pancake
breakfasts with students and staff.

Field trips are ongoing around the district and have included sports
travel, skating and ski days. Volleyball, soccer and debate teams have
represented CHSS well. Jr. Boys volleyball received bronze at zones and
Jr girls’ volleyball received silver. Both sr. boys and girls’ volleyball teams
received GOLD! Sr. Girls will be heading to provincials very soon. A big
thank you to the many individuals and organizations who have been
generously donating to the Fall sports teams traveling to the Provincial
Championships.

CHSS has expanded shop programs this year by offering Auto shop, and
the class has recently started doing oil changes and tire rotations.
Roosevelt and Conrad have planned visits with pen pals. They have had
fun connecting this way.

Dec 4-6 — "Almost Maine” CHSS Drama Productions at the Lester Centre.

Early Learning & Child Care:

The ownership of the lots where Lax Kxeen Elementary School at 601
William Booth Way and Booth Maintenance Building at 500 Hays Cove
Avenue occupy, have reverted to The Board of School Trustees of School
District No. 52. as of October 31, 2025. This is welcome news for the new
childcare facility for 144 spaces as the project will now be on track for
completion of late 2027 or early 2028. Station One Architects and
Vancouver School Board project managers will be returning to Prince
Rupert on December 9™ and 10" to update the board of trustees and
rightsholders groups with progress on the project.

7. Secretary Treasurer’s Report

7.1 Statement of Operations September 2025

Page 3 of 7 5 of 98




The Secretary-Treasurer presented the Statement of Operations October 2025 report
and answered questions from Trustees. Trustees questioned line 41 function 1 and
further explanation. The secretary-treasurer made a note and requested to get back
to the trustees at the next board meeting.

7.2 October 2025 Operations Department Report
The Secretary-Treasurer presented the October 2025 Operations Department report
and answered questions from Trustees,

7.3 October 2025 Information Technology Department report
The Secretary-Treasurer presented the October 2025 Information Technology
Department Report and answered questions from Trustees.

Committee Reports
8.1 Finance & Building Committee (Trustees Beil, Maier, Horne)
8.1.1  Banking Bylaw

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
BANKING BYLAW NO. BB-2025

BANKING RESOLUTION
Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025

a)

b)

o)

d)

Appointment for Banking Services

"THAT Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (herein referred to as “CIBC") be appointed to
provide all banking services as per the terms of its Banking Services Proposal dated the 24th day
of October 2025, such services to commence as soon as practically possible.”

Repeal of Existing Bylaw

“THAT upon execution of a new banking services agreement with CIBC, the existing Banking
Bylaw No. BB-2020 will be repealed, and furthermore

THAT the Board authorize the Secretary Treasurer to terminate its banking services and overdraft
agreements with Northern Savings Credit Union as soon as practically possible.”

Direction to Accept Facsimile Signatures on Cheques

“THAT CIBC be and is hereby authorized and directed to pay any and all cheques or instruments
representing to be cheques of the Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
(herein referred to as the "Board") presented for payment bearing the facsimile signatures of the
Superintendent, the Secretary Treasurer, and the Director of Finance, and furthermore

THAT such cheques or instruments shall have the same legal effect, may be dealt with to all
intents and purposes and shall bind the Board as fully and effectually as if signed in the
handwriting of and duly issued by such officers for or on behalf of the Board, regardless of
howsoever or by whomsoever the said signatures have been mechanically affixed, including
through the use of a facsimile signing machine, and furthermore

THAT the Board shall provide CIBC with a certified copy of this resolution and certified copies of
such facsimile signatures and that such resolution may be acted upon by the Prince Rupert
branch of CIBC until notice of the contrary or of any change therein has been given in writing to
the manager or acting manager of such branch of CIBC."

Signing Authorities

Page 4 of 7 6 of 98



i) "THAT cheques valued $1 to $25,000.00 can be signed/authorized by a combination of any of
two of the Director of Finance, Secretary Treasurer and Superintendent. Any one of the
Director of Finance, Secretary Treasurer or Superintendent may also sign in combination with
any one of the Chair or Vice Chair to sign/authorize $1 to $25,000.00 cheques.

ii) Cheques valued $1 and greater and payable to the Receiver General of Canada, the Minister
of Finance, any authorized provider of employee benefits, BC Hydro, or Pacific Northern Gas
can be signed/authorized by a combination of any two of the Director of Finance, Secretary
Treasurer and Superintendent. Any one of the Director of Finance, Secretary Treasurer or
Superintendent may also sign in combination with any one of the Chair or Vice Chair to
sign/authorize $1 and greater cheques payable to the Receiver General of Canada, the
Minister of Finance, any authorized provider of employee benefits, BC Hydro, or Pacific
Northern Gas.

iii) All other cheques valued $25,000.00 and greater must be signed/authorized by any one of
the Director of Finance, Secretary Treasurer or Superintendent and any one of the Chair or
Vice Chair."”

e) Automated Funds Transfer (Direct Deposit) Service
"THAT, except for payments requiring two signatures in accordance with paragraph
(d)(iii) above, payroll and accounts payable payments valued $1and greater can be made through
the Automated Funds Transfer Service (Direct Deposit) and any one of the Manager of Payroll
Services, Assistant Director of Finance and Director of Finance may submit transactions for
payment, and any one of the Director of Finance, Secretary Treasurer and Superintendent may
approve the transactions for payment, however the Director of Finance is not authorized to
approve transactions that were submitted by the Director of Finance.”

f) Temporary Borrowing
"THAT the Board authorize the Secretary Treasurer to maintain the existing agreement with Bank
of Montreal (BMO) to provide the Board with credit by way of corporate purchasing accounts.”

g) Authorization of Banking Forms and Resolutions

"THAT the Board authorize the Secretary Treasurer and the Director of Finance to sign and
complete all other forms and resolutions, in a form acceptable to the Secretary Treasurer,
necessary to complete the banking arrangements with CIBC, the signature of the Secretary
Treasurer on such forms and resolutions being sufficient to acknowledge the satisfaction of this
clause.”

This Bylaw may be referred to at “School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025."

READ A FIRST TIME THE 18TH DAY OF NOVEMBER 2025;

READ A SECOND TIME THE 18TH DAY OF NOVEMBER 2025;

READ A THIRD TIME, PASSED AND ADOPTED THE 18TH DAY OF NOVEMBER 2025.

Motion 20251118-8.1.1a

Beil “Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne (Prince Rupert) that Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025 have all three
readings on November 18, 2025." Carried

Page 5 of 7 7 of 98



Motion 20251118-8.1.1b

Beil
Horne

"Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
(Prince Rupert) that Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025 be read a first time
the 18" day November 2025." - Carried

Motion 20251118-8.1.1¢

Beil
Horne

"Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
(Prince Rupert) that Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025 be read a second
~time the 18" day November 2025." Carried

Motion 20251118-8.1.1d

Beil "Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
Horne (Prince Rupert) that Banking Bylaw No. BB-2025 be read a third
~ time, passed and adopted the 18™ day November 2025." Carried
8.2 Framework for Enhancing Student Learning (Trustees Horne, Toye)

Nothing to report

8.3 Provincial Council (Trustees Horne, Sanchez)

Trustee Horne shared highlights from the recent BCSTA synopsis.

8.4 Policy Committee (Trustees Toye, Maier)

8.4.1  November 10, 2025, meeting
Chair Toye presented the minutes of the November 10, 2025, meeting
of the Policy Committee and answered questions from Trustees.

84.2  Policies for Approval
84.2.1 6330 - Role of the Secretary-Treasurer Policy
~ 84.22 1120 - French Immersion Policy

Motion 20251021-8.4.2

Toye
Beil

“Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
(Prince Rupert) that policies 6330 — Role of the Secretary-Treasurer
‘and 1120 — French Immersion be approved as presented.” ~ Carrie

843  Policies for Review
8.4.3.1 2110 - Recruitment and Selection of Personnel Policy
8.4.3.2 1340 — Response to Unexpected Health Emergencies Policy

Motion 20251118-8.4.3

Toye
Beil

"Be it resolved by the Board of Education of School District No. 52
(Prince Rupert) that policies 2110- Recruitment and Selection of
Personnel and 1340 — Response to Unexpected Health Emergencies
_Policies be sent to stakeholders for comment and review.” Carried

85 District Technology Steering Committee
Recent meeting discussions around ways to save money on things like cameras
and software subscriptions. The committee is still working on putting together and
Al report.

Old Business
None

Page 6 of 7 8 of 98



10. New Business
None

11 Information Items:
11.1  Professional Development Day, November 28, 2025
Vice-Chair Maier noted that the Professional Development Day is on November 28,
2025

11.2  BCSTA, Trustee Academy
Vice-Chair Maier noted that BCSTA Trustee Academy is on November 27-29, 2025

11.3  Board of Education Meeting, December 16, 2025
Vice-Chair Maier noted that the Board of Education meeting is on December 16, 2025.

114  Winter Break, December 22, 2025 ~ January 2, 2026
Vice-Chair Maier noted that Winter Break is from December 22, 2025, to January 2,

2026.

11.5  School Board Office Closure, December 23, 2025, to January 2, 2026.
Vice-Chair Maier noted that the School Board Office Closure is from December 23,
2025, to January 2, 2026.

12. 10 Minute Question and Answer Period
Q: Section 6 — Please repeat what the district the owner of regarding the new childcare
spaces.

A: The title of the properties at Lax Kxeen was granted back to the district.

Q: Concerns about families crossing the unlit field for craft nights etc at PRMS.

A: The School District does not own that field, however the Superintendent will investigate
this as the concern is valid.

13. Adjournment
Chair Toye adjourned the meeting at 8:22 p.m.

Page 7 of 7 9 of 98




Nat’ata Gasuwilaa’ymsgit

November 20, 2025
Letter to the Superintendent in care of the Board of Trustees
Andrew Samoil

Re: Concerns Regarding the Direction of Early Learning and Literacy in SD52

School District 52’s Strategic Plan emphasizes equity, Indigenization, cultural responsiveness,
local autonomy, whole-child development, and community-rooted learning.

As teachers in Prince Rupert, we not only uphold these values—we believe deeply in their
importance for our students, families, and community. It is with this shared commitment that we
express our growing concern about the recent direction of early learning and literacy in our
district, particularly the increasing reliance on American commercial programs.

While the district endeavours to develop its own Literacy Framework, current practices appear to
lean heavily on U.S.-based standardized products such as the Acadience screener and scripted
literacy programs like UFLI. These programs reflect pedagogies and worldviews that we feel
appear misaligned with the vision, mission, and values outlined in the SD52 Strategic Plan.

It is also important to note that at the most recent BCTF Representative Assembly, three motions
were carried affirming a provincial consensus that American standardized screeners should not
be used with BC students. Teachers across the province agree that these tools should not be
relied upon in BC schools. This provincial direction reinforces the concerns raised by teachers in
Prince Rupert regarding the appropriateness and cultural relevance of such products.

Prince Rupert has one of the highest proportions of Indigenous learners in British Columbia. As
a district, we have long prioritized embedding local Indigenous knowledge, culture, and
perspectives into all areas of learning. We believe in culturally responsive, place-conscious
education that honours Ts’msyen worldviews, oral traditions, and ways of knowing.
Standardized, scripted American programs are not designed to reflect Indigenous pedagogies or
Prince Rupert’s unique cultural context. They risk marginalizing Indigenous identities and
replacing place-based learning with imported content—undermining our shared commitments to
Reconciliation and, specifically, Truth and Reconciliation Commission Call to Action 10(iit).

The SD52 Strategic Plan also emphasizes holistic, whole-child learning. Research clearly shows
that relationships, emotional safety, and the social context of learning are fundamental to
children’s development. In our classrooms, we prioritize relationship-based teaching, play and
inquiry, community connectedness, Indigenous principles of learning, and trauma-informed
practice. Scripted commercial programs, particularly those aligned with “Science of Reading”

10 of 98



packages, prioritize rigid skill sequences, predetermined texts, and scripted daily lessons. These
structures limit teacher professional judgment, reduce flexibility, and risk diminishing student
voice, cultural identity, and creativity.

Further, such programs create a curricular disconnect. The BC curriculum emphasizes Big Ideas,
core competencies, inquiry, flexible pathways, and experiential, place-based learning. American
commercial literacy programs seek uniformity and standardization—values deeply at odds with
the BC curriculum and our strategic priorities.

We also know from the Human Early Learning Project (HELP) that Prince Rupert has a high
proportion of children experiencing developmental vulnerability. These vulnerabilities are
strongly linked to social-emotional needs, community context, and systemic inequities—not
simply literacy skill deficits. Early screening tools such as Acadience may help identify potential
risks, but when used in isolation, they cannot address broader developmental needs. Without
culturally responsive intervention, play-based learning, rich oral language experiences, and
supportive relationships, screening alone will not improve literacy outcomes.

A narrow focus on screening and isolated discrete skills risks:

* Prioritizing what is measured over what matters.

* Accelerating the “schoolification” of early childhood—introducing academic pressure before
play, identity, and belonging are established.

* Undermining children’s well-being, curiosity, and intrinsic motivation.

* Missing the foundational importance of culture, context, relationships, and community.

Skills such as phonemic awareness, vocabulary, and alphabet knowledge are important and
supported by research, but they must be embedded in meaningful, culturally grounded,
relationally rich learning environments.

Assessment should inform, not replace, responsive instructional practice.

Based on our understanding of SD52’s Strategic Plan, we are concerned that standardized,
scripted American programs:

* Conflict with Indigenous Education priorities and Reconciliation commitments.

+ Limit culturally responsive practice and place-based learning.

+ Undermine teacher autonomy and professional expertise.

* Misalign with the BC curriculum’s holistic, competency-based framework.

« Ignore local data, community strengths, and Prince Rupert’s unique learner population.

Prince Rupert requires literacy approaches that are locally developed, culturally grounded,
flexible, responsive to student context, and reflective of Ts’msyen and Indigenous worldviews.
These approaches must align with BC’s holistic curriculum—not with imported scripts designed
for U.S. systems.

11 0f 98



In today’s political and educational climate, investing in local, Canadian-made, culturally rooted
approaches honors our community, our learners, and our commitment to Reconciliation.

Sincerely,
_.7%% —

Kyla Ragan
President, Prince Rupert District Teachers” Union

Cc: Tammy Dickens, Board Chair « Kate Toye, Trustee « Janet Beil, Trustee ¢ Kristy Maier,

Trustee » Danielle Dalton, Trustee * Mike Pucci, Trustee * James Horne, Trustee ¢ Louisa
Sanchez

12 of 98



k School District 8
\ \ Kootenay Lake
November 6, 2025

Honourable Minister Lisa Beare
Minister of Education and Child Care
Government of British Columbia

Via email

Re: Request to Review the Inclusive Education Funding Model
Dear Minister Beare,

On behalf of the Board of Education for School District No. 8 (Kootenay Lake) we are writing to
respectfully request a comprehensive review of the provincial funding model related to
inclusive education.

As a Board, we are responsible for ensuring that every school-age learner in our district has
access to an educational program, consistent with the School Act and the Ministry’s policy
framework. The Act requires boards to make an educational program available to all school-
age residents, and the Statement of Education Policy Order (Mandate for the School System)
affirms government’s responsibility to ensure that all learners can develop their individual
potential and contribute to a healthy society and sustainable economy.

We ask that the Ministry revisit the following recommendations with partners across the sector.
To continue to adhere to inclusion principles that support the basic human rights of children in
schools that have a diversity of learners, funding should reflect the increasing classroom
complexity, and need for services such as evidence-based interventions, specialized staff,
assistive technology, and interagency coordination have expanded correspondingly. Previous
provincial reviews identified opportunities to better align resources with needs such as
combining high-cost claims with a provincial prevalence-based component while maintaining
accountability for student outcomes.

We also note the Supreme Court of Canada’s guidance that for some learners, specialized
supports are the means by which students obtain meaningful access to the education
guaranteed to all children. This principle reinforces the importance of funding models that
allow districts to meet individual needs for all students in a timely, effective, and sustainable
way.

The current funding model references these obligations, but unique need identification in
operational budgets does not align to this requirement. The K-12 Funding model provides a
basic allocation for all students and supplemental funding for defined categories of need (Levels
1-3). While these mechanisms support the unique demographics of school districts, they also

811 Stanley St, Nelso%%ggf}/u N8
Tel 250.352.6681 Fax 250.352.6686 sd8.bc.ca



School District 8 Kootenay Lake - Trustee Advocacy on Inclusive Education Model 2

respond to a medicalized model of identifying learners that fall within specified learning
profiles. The funding also requires that boards meet the full scope of duties outlined above
within this funding model for all operational obligations and to support all students with diverse
learning abilities that require specialized supports and fall outside of the level 1-3 categories.
Our district’s budgeted 2025-2026 expenditures exceed our budgeted 2025-2026 revenue in the
area of inclusive education by CAD 1.9 million. This continues to be a historical trend.

With this context, we respectfully request that the Ministry consider the following in a renewed
review of the inclusive education funding model:

e Ensure that funding keeps pace with the actual costs of delivering required supports
(staffing, programs and services, assessments, transportation, technology, and
specialized programming) so boards can fully meet legislated and policy obligations.

e Assess whether the current allocation model adequately reflects rural and remote
communities, socio-economic factors, and emerging mental-health and behaviour-
support needs, while preserving flexibility for local implementation.

e Ensure that rural and remote districts have access to funding reflective of the additional
travel time required for inclusive education educators or specialists to travel between
schools and their inability to apply economy of scale.

e Explore multi-year allocations and appropriate stabilization measures so districts can
plan services and staffing, including for low-incidence, high-cost needs that may
fluctuate year-to-year.

e Maintain transparent reporting while moving away from a medical model and
emphasizing measures of access, participation, progress toward IEP goals, graduation,
and transitions consistent with the Ministry’s policy objectives.

e Ensure that districts are able to equitably meet a standard of service across the
province, including having access to timely assessment and specialist services.

Our Board is committed to accountability and continuous improvement. We respectfully request
a comprehensive review of the provincial funding model related to inclusive education. We
welcome the opportunity to participate in a Ministry-led process to support equitable, high-
quality learning for every student, in every community.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

C%/LUJQA GQ'“U'Q

Susan Chew, Chair
Board of Education of School District No. 8 (Kootenay Lake)

cc. Trish Smillie, Superintendent of Schools
British Columbia School Trustees Association

14 of 98



PRINCE RUPERT SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52

SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS REPORT

TO BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES

December 16, 2025
6.1 For Board Information:
6.1.1  Field Trips Approved
School Dates School  Grade Purpose
Days
1. CHSS Sept 27, 2025 0 9/10 Jr. Girls Volleyball in Smithers
2. CHSS Sept 27, 2025 0 9/10 Jr. Boys Volleyball in Terrace
3. CHSS Sept 27, 0ct9, 1,18, |1 10, 11, 12 | Volleyball in Hazelton, Kitimat,
25, Nov 1, 14, 15/25 Smithers, Terrace, Houston
4. CHSS Nov 29, Dec 10-14/25, | 9 9/10 Basketball games
Jan 8-11, 31, Feb 6,7, /tournaments in Hazelton,
20-25/26 Prince George, Terrace,
Smithers, Langley
5. CHSS Nov 28,29/25 1 11/12 Basketball tournament in
Terrace
6. CHSS Nov 25-Dec 1/25 5 10/11/12 | Volleyball Provincials in
Kelowna
7. PRMS Dec 6/25 0 8 Boys basketball zone playday
in Smithers
8. CHSS Dec 10-14/25 3 11/12 Basketball tournament in
North Vancouver
9. CHSS Dec 15/25 3rd Comm Harvesting Cedar on Butze
block builders trail
10. CHSS Jan 8-11/26 2 11/12 Basketball tournament in
Prince George.
11. CHSS Jan 9-12/26 2 9-12 Debate tournament in Prince
George
12. PRMS Jan 10/26 0 8 Boys basketball in Kitimat
13. CHSS Jan 16-17/26 1 11/12 Basketball in Smithers
14. CHSS Jan 23-26/26 2 9-12 Debate tournament in Prince
George.
15. PRMS Feb 6,7/26 1 8 Boys basketball tournament in
Hazelton.
16. PRMS Feb 12/26 6 Skiing at Shames
17. CHSS Feb 13,14/26 11/12 Boys basketball in Smithers
18. CHSS/ Mar 10/26 8-12 Debate team model
PRMS parliament at Booth or PAC

6.1.2  Enrolment
6.1.2.1

6.1.3  Upcoming Projects/Learning/Other

Enrolment Graph (p. 16)

15 of 98




0C-6] ==@== TC

0C==@== (-1 =@ CC-CC =@ (-EC=m@un GC-V(wm@ue Q(-G( =@

S
&mw

siea\ /£ 1sed ayj Jano uawiyjolul

0991

0041

0G/1

0081

0681

0061

0g6eTl

000¢

16 of 98



The Board of Education of School District #52 (Prince Rupert)

Unaudited Statement of Operations/Operating Fund

November 30, 2025

Variance
OPERATING FUND Favourable ARNUAL
YTD Budget  Jul - Nov (Unfavour- BUDGET
2025/26 ACTUALS able) % 2025/26
REVENUE
Provincial Grants, MECC 8,269,553 8,269,553 - 0.0% 26,987,568
LEA Funding From First Nations 377,874 377,874 - 0.0% 1,277,525
Provincial Grants, Other - - - 100.0% 32,483
International Student Tuition 47,700 47,700 - 0.0% 36,000
Other Revenue 83,657 76,517 (7,140) -8.5% 776,777
Rentals & Leases 41,100 33,568 (7,632) -18.3% 98,640
Interest Income 58,333 84,467 26,134 44.8% 140,000
Total Revenue 8,878,217 8,889,679 11,462 0.1% 29,348,993
EXPENSE
Salaries
Teachers 3,241,915 3,242,199 (284) 0.0% 11,109,718
Principals & Vice-Principals 788,514 777,513 11,001 1.4% 1,946,311
Education Assistants 736,063 740,971 (4,908) -0.7% 2,453,543
Support Staff 882,933 881,757 1,176 0.1% 2,308,744
Other Professionals 790,595 783,147 7,448 0.9% 1,917,746
Substitutes 401,910 386,083 15,827 3.9% 1,135,553
Total Salaries 6,841,930 6,811,670 30,260 0.4% 20,871,615
Employee Benefits 1,608,924 1,529,583 79,341 4.9% 5,217,905
Total Salary & Benefits 8,450,854 8,341,253 109,601 1.3% 26,089,520
Services & Supplies 1,130,874 1,115,309 15,565 1.4% 3,957,425
Total Expense 9,581,728 9,456,562 125,166 1.3% 30,046,945
Net Revenue (Expense) (703,511) (566,883) 136,628 19.4% (697,952)
Indigenous Ed Surplus Included - - - 12,991
Drawn from Reserves - - - 744,961
Capital Asset Purchases - - - (60,000)
Surplus (Deficit) for Year (703,511) (566,883) 136,628 19.4% =

17 of 98



SDS GUI
Report ID 2001

Fund: O Operating

PR TITLE

Function : 1 Instruction

02  Reqular Instruction
03  Career Preparation
07  Library Services

08 Counselling

10  Special Education
30  English Language
31 Aboriginal Education
441 Business Admin

TOTAL FOR Function - 1
Function : 4 District

11 Education Admin
40  Governance

41 Business Admin

TOTAL FOR Function - 4

School District No. 52

EXPENDITURES BY PROGRAM AT NOVEMBER 30, 2025

{ Fund-Function-Program )

Nov

1.193,172.22
-1092.47
73,406.42
26,678.60
646,113.43
2.64
234,716.47
207,620.34

2,380,617.65

48,710.03
23,078.96
93,097.33

164,886.32

Function : 5 Maintenance & Operations

41 Business Admin

50  Plant Maintenance
52 Maintenance Of

56  Utilities

TOTAL FOR Function - 5
Function : 7 Transportation

41 Business Admin

70  Student Transportation

TOTAL FOR Function -7

TOTAL FOR Fund- 0O

GRAND TOTAL

103,464.91
235,484.65
9,104.60
43,059.84

391,114.00

442.8
27,843.28

2,964,904.05

YEAR TO DATE

3,514,031.66
232.53
189,751.45
97,117.38
1,648,573.46
204.79
753,481.00
953,386.60

7,156,778.87

238,133.09
93,533.61
387,290.35

718,957.05

151,308.26
1,186,251.65
32,321.03
129,834.05

1,499,714.99

2,233.27
78,878.47

9,456,562.65

ENCUMBERED

6,404.70

2725.57

9,130.27

1,155.00

1,155.00

55,255.59

55,255.59

65,540.86

FULL YEAR
BUDGET

12,907,690
6,589
629,119
243,933
5,075,664
0

2,333,091
2,207,782

23,403,868

487,913
248,009
1,492,523

2,228,445

349,930
2,896,498
138,828
673,754

4,059,010

4,395
351,227

30,046,945

PAGE 1

ACROL31-E
Expenditure
AVAILABLE PERC
9,393,658 73
6,356 96
439,368 70
146,816 60
3,427,091 68
-205 0
1,579,610 68
1,254,395 57
16,247,089 69
249,780 51
154,475 62
1,105,233 74
1,609,488 68
198,622 57
1,710,246 59
106,507 77
543,920 81
2,559,295 63
2,162 49
272,349 78
274,510 77
20,590,382 69
20,590,382 69

18 of 98



PRINCE

RUPE_RT OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT
— " SChOOI/D'St”d No.52 K. Macllroy Director of Operations

Monthly Report to the Board

November 2025

Facilities:

CHSS new elevator power pack has arrivedin BC. Should be onsite before Christmas and
installed January 2026

Conrad fire suppression system has now arrived and are on site. Cims from Kitimat will be
doing the demo and installation

Custodial:

Regular scheduled cleaning and maintenance continues.

Energy & Conservation

Tri City from Terrace has updated the heating program (Enteliweb). Eby’s has been given
the go ahead to finish off phase 3 of the hearting upgrade at Roosevelt. Heating
adjustments are on going as the weather gets colder.

Transportation

In town trips 11 Out of town trips 2
BB 2019 is back from Kitimat and is ready to go on out of town trips. The new bus BB 2026

is in Vancouver getting a pre road inspection and signage beforeit is shipped to us in early
January 2026

Health & Safety

Regular District Monthly meeting are up to date.

19 of 98



Prince Rupert School District 52

PRINCE
634 6t Avenue East, V8] 1X1
RUPERT BQDP‘EI%ITSZ Prince Rupert, B.C.
chaalstrictivo. T. 250.624.6717 F. 250.624.6517
—-@/ www.rupertschools.ca

IT Board Meeting Report — Summary
Date: December 2025

1. Smartboard replacements — On going project
= The Smartboard replacement initiative is currently in progress as part of our technology upgrade plan.
The project aims to replace outdated interactive boards with modern, high-performance alternatives
to enhance classroom and meeting room functionality.

2. TeamViewer to Microsoft Quick Assist

As part of our ongoing efforts to streamline remote support and improve security, the IT department is
transitioning from TeamViewer to Microsoft Quick Assist for remote assistance.

Reason for Change:

= Security & Compliance: Quick Assist is integrated with Microsoft’s ecosystem, offering better
compliance with organizational security policies.

= Cost Efficiency: Eliminates licensing costs associated with third-party remote support tools.

= Ease of Use: Built into Windows, reducing installation and configuration requirements.

3. Modernize provisioning, device setup, and lifecycle management for Windows 10/11 devices

We are currently working with a contractor to modernize provisioning, device setup, and lifecycle
management for Windows 10/11 devices through Microsoft Windows Autopilot. This Proof-of-Concept (POC)
will validate Autopilot's impact on reducing imaging time, improving consistency, and enhancing the end user
experience.

Reported by: Paramijit Khaira

SD52 Experience
Indigenous Ways of Knowing Culture of Care  Future Focused System

20 of 98



BRITISH | Ministry
COLUMBIA | of Education

SCHOOL DISTRICT

(SOFI)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

634 - 6th Avenue East

6049
SCHOOL DISTRICT NUMBER | NAME OF SCHOOL DISTRICT YEAR
52 The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rup 2024/2025
QFFICE LOCATION(S) TELEPHONE NUMBER

250-624-6717

Andrew Samoil

MAILING ADDRESS
634 - 6th Avenue East
CITY PROVINCE POSTAL CODE
Prince Rupert BC V8J 1X1
NAME OF SUPERINTENDENT

TELEPHONE NUMBER

250-624-6717

NAME OF SEGRETARY TREASURER

Enrique Vazquez

TELEPHONE NUMBER

DECLARATION AND SIGNATURES

June 30, 2025

We, the undersigned, certify that the attached is a correct and true copy of the Statement of Financial Information for the year ended

for School District No. 52 as required under Section 2 of the Financial Information Act.

SIGNATURE OF CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION DATE SIGNED
SIGNATURE OF SUPERINTENDENT DATE SIGNED
SIGNATURE OF SECRETARY TREASURER DATE SIGNED

EDUC. 6049 (REV. 2008/09)




School District
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)

The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Documents are arranged in the following order:
1. Approval of Statement of Financial Information
2. Management Report
3. Audited Financial Statements
4. Schedule of Debt
5. Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements
6. Statement of Severance Agreements
7. Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses
8. Schedule of Payments for the Provision of Supplies and Services

9. Reconciliation of Payments to Audited Financial Statements

School Funding & Allocation Revised: August 2002
01 - Table of Contents.rtf

22 of 98



School District
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)

The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the
Financial Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and the integrity and objectivity of
these statements are management's responsibility.

Management is also responsible for all other schedules of financial information and for
ensuring this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained
in the financial statements and for implementing and maintaining a system of internal
controls to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced.

The Board of Education is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control and for approving the financial
information included in the Statement of Financial Information.

The external auditors, KPMG LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial
statements as required by the School Act. Their examination does not relate to the other
schedules of financial information required by the Financial Information Act. Their
examination includes a review and evaluation of the board's system of internal control
and appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are presented fairly.

On behalf of the Board of School Trustees
The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Andrew Samoil, Superintendent
Date:

Enrique Vazquez, Secretary Treasurer
Date:

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 9

Resource Management Division Revised: October 2008
04 - Management Report.rtf

23 of 98




Audited Financial Statements of

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

And Independent Auditors’ Report thereon

June 30, 2025

September 24, 2025 11:42 24 of 98



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

June 30, 2025
Table of Contents
MANAZEMENE REPOIT ...cvveriiiiiciiiitiiiietite ettt bbb R E LS E L S bbb 1
Independent AUGITOS' REPOIT ......iiviiiviuiimitiieris sttt 2-4
Statement of Financial PoSition - StALEIMENT 1 ...e.ceerrerreoormimiiiiiirresress st e e ss s esa st se et et aa e b b s e a e r et e bbb e 5
Statement of OPErations = STALEMIEIL 2 .....cvvvivicruetiiiiririeimeiiss st et et s 6
Statement of Changes in Net Debt - STEMENE 4 ..ot e 7
Statement 0f Cash FIOWS = STALEIMENE 5 ..oc.iiiiriieeieiaee et etreec it st s et ks esaras e e berbeb s e btk e s e s b e b A e bR b s s a s e s e b e s e e et b st an s 8
Notes 10 the FINAncial STAEIMEILS ....iicvertierirtererarerereererrerietiire et sie st s s e s e e s b es e s s e b aasfbre bt eas s E Lo b s L b L b e s s s s b e bt ettt n 9-27
Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) by Fund - Schedule 1 (Unaudited) ..o 28
Schedule of Operating Operations - Schedule 2 (Unaudited) ... 29
Schedule 2A - Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source (Unaudited) ......ccommeennicimiiiiisos 30
Schedule 2B - Schedule of Operating Expense by Object (Unaudited) ... 31
Schedule 2C - Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object (Unaudited) ... 32
Schedule of Special Purpose Operations - Schedule 3 (Unaudited) .....ooovevneeneiimin s 34
Schedule 3A - Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object (Unaudited) ..o 35
Schedule of Capital Operations - Schedule 4 (Unaudited) ... 40
Schedule 4A - Tangible Capital Assets (Unaudited) ... e 41
Schedule 4B - Tangible Capital Assets - Work in Progress (Unaudited) ... 42
Schedule 4C - Deferred Capital Revenue (Unaudited) ... 43
Schedule 4D - Changes in Unspent Deferred Capital Revenue (Unaudited) ..o 44

September 24, 2025 11:42 25 of 98




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

MANAGEMENT REPORT
Version: 1787-1041-8058

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements.

The accompanying financial statements of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) have been prepared by
management in accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and
Accountability Act of British Columbia, supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the
Province of British Columbia Treasury Board, and the integrity and objectivity of these statements are
management's responsibility. Management is also responsible for all of the notes to the financial statements and
schedules, and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information
contained in the financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's
judgment particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with
certainty until future periods.

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to provide
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and reliable financial
information is produced.

The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) (called the "Board") is responsible for
ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control and exercises
these responsibilities through the Board. The Board reviews internal financial statements on a monthly basis
and externally audited financial statements yearly.

The external auditors, KPMG, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial statements. The external auditors have
full and free access to financial management of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) and meet when required.
The accompanying Independent Auditors' Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination
and their opinion on the School District's financial statements.

On behalf of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Original signed by Board Chair September 24, 2025
Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education Date Signed
Original signed by Superintendent September 24, 2025
Signature of the Superintendent Date Signed
Original signed by Secretary Treasurer September 24, 2025
Signature of the Secretary Treasurer Date Signed

September 24, 2025 11:42 26 of 98 Page 1



KPME'

KPMG LLP

177 Victoria Street, Suite 400
Prince George, BC V2L 5R8
Canada

Telephone (250) 563-7151
Fax (250) 563-5693

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert), and

To the Minister of Education and Child Care, Province of British Columbia

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) (the Entity), which
comprise:

o the statement of financial position as at June 30, 2025

. the statement of operations for the year then ended

. the statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended

. the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

. and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements as at and for the year ended June 30, 2025
of the Entity are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the financial reporting
provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of
British Columbia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fuffilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter — Financial Reporting Framework

We draw attention to note 2(a) to the financial statements which describes the applicable financial
reporting framework and the significant differences between the financial reporting framework and
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated
with KPMG Intemnational Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

27 of 98



KPME

Other Information

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:
° Information included in Unaudited Schedules 1-4 attached to the audited financial statements

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained the Information included in the Unaudited Schedules 1-4 attached to the audited
financial statements as at the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed
on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact in the auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of the Budget and Transparency and Accountability Act
of the Province of British Columbia and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.

3

28 of 98



KPME!

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

V23 Y724
e

Chartered Professional Accountants

Prince George, Canada
September 23, 2025

4

29 of 98



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Statement 1

Statement of Financial Position

As at June 30, 2025
2025 2024
Actual Actual
3 3
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 13,326,012 10,959,500
Accounts Receivable
Due from Province - Ministry of Education and Child Care 5,003,304 -
Other (Note 3) 1,020,435 1,088,188
Total Financial Assets 19,349,751 12,047,688
Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Other (Note 4) 9,019,094 3,211,345
Unearned Revenue (Note 5) 38,788 35,538
Deferred Revenue (Note 6) 2,241,482 2,120,630
Deferred Capital Revenue (Note 7) 44,397,383 33,351,905
Employee Future Benefits (Note 8) 430,120 412,570
Asset Retirement Obligation (Note 21) 5,025,000 5,025,000
Total Liabilities 61,151,867 44,156,988
Net Debt (41,802,116) (32,109,300)
Non-Financial Assets
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) 49,602,696 39,269,831
Prepaid Expenses 100,116 228,811
Total Non-Financial Assets 49,702,812 39,498,642
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 7,900,696 7,389,342
Contractual Obligations (Note 14)
Contingent Liabilities (Note 15)
Approved by the Board
Original signed by Board Chair September 24, 2025
Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education Date Signed
Original signed by Superintendent September 24, 2025
Signature of the Superintendent Date Signed
Original signed by Secretary Treasurer September 24, 2025
Signature of the Secretary Treasurer Date Signed
Version: 1787-1041-8058 30 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. Page 5



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Statement of Operations

Statement 2

Year Ended June 30, 2025
2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ 3 $
Revenues
Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education and Child Care 32,375,413 32,592,845 31,394,899
Other 159,778 181,954 138,617
Federal Grants 16,000
Tuition 68,550 71,950 87,200
Other Revenue 3,272,254 3,763,052 3,470,481
Rentals and Leases 114,280 133,391 25,528
Investment Income 214,140 272,198 213,702
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (Note 7) 1,364,670 1,348,370 1,294,435
Total Revenue 37,585,085 38,363,760 36,624,862
Expenses
Instruction 29,533,117 29,383,521 28,365,245
District Administration 2,337,680 2,440,003 2,011,093
Operations and Maintenance 5,695,699 5,407,745 4,574,012
Transportation and Housing 690,680 621,137 590,940
Total Expense 38,257,176 37,852,406 35,541,290
Surplus (Deficit) for the year (672,091) 511,354 1,083,572
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, beginning of year 7,389,342 6,305,770
Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, end of year 7,900,696 7,389,342
Version: 1787-1041-8058 31 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Page 6




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Statement of Changes in Net Debt
Year Ended June 30, 2025

Statement 4

2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ $ $

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (672,091) 511,354 1,083,572
Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) (5,852,857) (11,899,782) (4,099,335)

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) 1,581,496 1,566,917 1,529,459

Total Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets (4,271,361) (10,332,865) (2,569,876)
Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses (45,627) (206,056)
Use of Prepaid Expenses 174,322 156,205

Total Effect of change in Other Non-Financial Assets - 128,695 (49,851)
(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt, before Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) (4,943,452) (9,692,816) (1,536,155)
Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)
(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt (9,692,816) (1,536,155)
Net Debt, beginning of year (32,109,300) (30,573,145)

Net Debt, end of year

Version: 1787-1041-8058
September 24, 2025 11:42

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(41,802,116)

(32,109,300)

32 of 98

Pag

e 7



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Statement 5

Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2025
2025 2024
Actual Actual
$ $

Operating Transactions
Surplus (Deficit) for the year 511,354 1,083,572
Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital
Decrease (Increase)

Accounts Receivable (4,935,551) 49,734
Prepaid Expenses 128,695 (49,851)
Increase (Decrease)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 5,807,749 (301,889)
Unearned Revenue 3,250 (73,425)
Deferred Revenue 120,852 412,957
Employee Future Benefits 17,550 52,591
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) 1,566,917 1,529,459
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (Note 7) (1,348,370) (1,294,435)
Recognition of Deferred Capital Revenue Spent on Sites (196,052)
Total Operating Transactions 1,676,394 1,408,713
Capital Transactions
Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (3,028,020) (2,345,763)
Tangible Capital Assets ~-WIP Purchased (8,871,762) (1,753,572)
Tatal Capital Transactions (11,899,782) (4,099,335)
Financing Transactions
Capital Revenue Received (Note 7) 12,589,900 8,731,064
Total Financing Transactions 12,589,900 8,731,064
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,366,512 6,040,442
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 10,959,500 4,919,058
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 13,326,012 10,959,500
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year, is made up of:
Cash 13,326,012 10,959,500
13,326,012 10,959,500
Version: 1787-1041-8058 33 0f 98

September 24, 2025 11:42 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. Page 8




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 1 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) (the “School District”), established on April 1, 1946,
operates under the authority of the School Act of British Columbia as a corporation under the name
of "The Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)," and operates as "School
District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)." A board of education (the “Board”) elected for a four-year term
governs the School District. The School District provides educational programs to students enrolled
in schools in the district and is principally funded by the Province of British Columbia through the
Ministry of Education and Child Care. School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) is exempt from
federal and provincial corporate income taxes.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget
Transparency and Accountability Act of British Columbia. This Section requires that the
financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
except in regard to the accounting for government transfers as set out in Notes 2(e) and 2(1).

In November 2011, Treasury Board provided a directive through Restricted Contributions
Regulation 198/2011 providing direction for the reporting of restricted contributions whether
they are received or receivable by the School District before or after this regulation was in
effect.

As described in Notes 2(e) and 2(l), Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability
Act and its related regulations require the School District to recognize government transfers for
the acquisition of capital assets into revenue on the same basis as the related amortization
expense.

As these transfers do not contain stipulations that create a liability, Canadian public sector
accounting standards would require that:

e government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be
recognized as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the
eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard
PS3410; and

¢ externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the
resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public
sector accounting standard PS3100.

Paed 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

2)

b)

d)

Basis of Accounting (Continued)
The impact of this difference on the financial statements of the School District is as follows:

Year-ended June 30, 2024 — increase in annual surplus by $2,804,900

June 30, 2024 — increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions to
$28,691,313

Year-ended June 30, 2025 — increase in annual surplus by $10,187,301

June 30, 2025 — increase in accumulated surplus and decrease in deferred contributions to
$38,878,614

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid securities that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. These
cash equivalents generally have a maturity of three months or less at acquisition and are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost and shown net of allowance for doubtful
accounts.

Uneamed Revenue

Unearned revenue includes tuition fees received for courses to be delivered in future periods and
receipt of proceeds for services to be delivered in a future period. Revenue will be recognized in
that future period when the courses or services are provided.

Deferred Revenue and Deferred Capital Revenue

Deferred revenue includes contributions received with stipulations that meet the description of
restricted contributions in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury
Board. When restrictions are met, deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in
a manner consistent with the circumstances and evidence used to support the initial recognition
of the contributions received as a liability as detailed in Note 2(1).

P%%eo?‘QS




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

e) Deferred Revenue and Deferred Capital Revenue (Continued)

Funding received for the acquisition of depreciable tangible capital assets is recorded as deferred
capital revenue and amortized over the life of the asset acquired as revenue in the statement of
operations. This accounting treatment is not consistent with the requirements of Canadian public
sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be recognized as revenue
when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met unless the transfer
contains a stipulation that creates a liability in which case the transfer is recognized as revenue
over the period that the liability is extinguished. See note 2 (a) for the impact of this policy on
these financial statements.

f) Employee Future Benefits

The School District provides certain post-employment benefits including vested and non-vested
benefits for certain employees pursuant to certain contracts and union agreements. The School
District accrues its obligations and related costs including both vested and non-vested benefits
under employee future benefit plans. Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-
vested sick leave, early retirement, retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits.
The benefits cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on
service and using management’s best estimate of expected salary escalation, termination rates,
retirement rates and mortality. The discount rate used to measure obligations is based on the cost
of borrowing. The cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service lifetime of active employees covered under the plan.

The most recent valuation of the obligation was performed at March 31, 2025 and projected
to March 31, 2028. The next valuation will be performed at March 31, 2028 for use at

June 30, 2028. For the purposes of determining the financial position of the plans and the
employee future benefit costs, a measurement date of March 31 was adopted for all periods
subsequent to July 1, 2004.

The School district and its employees make contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and
Municipal Pension Plan. The plans are multi-employer plans where assets and obligations are
not separated. The costs are expensed as incurred.

g) Asset Retirement Obligation
A liability is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date:

(a) there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset;
(b) the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred;

(c) it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and

(d) a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

Pagss bt o



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

g) Asset Retirement Obligation (Continued)

The liability for the removal of asbestos and other hazardous material in several of the
buildings owned by the School District has been initially recognized using the modified
retroactive method. The liability has been measured at current cost as the timing and amounts
of future cash flows cannot be estimated. The resulting costs have been capitalized into the
carrying amount of tangible capital assets and are being amortized on the same basis as the
related tangible capital asset (see note 2 h)). Assumptions used in the calculations are reviewed
annually.

h) Tangible Capital Assets

The following criteria apply:

e Tangible capital assets acquired or constructed are recorded at cost which includes amounts
that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement
or betterment of the assets. Cost also includes overhead directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of the asset.

e Donated tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date of
donation, except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, in
which case the assets are then recognized at nominal value. Transfers of capital assets from
related parties are recorded at carrying value.

o Work-in-progress is recorded as an acquisition to the applicable asset class at substantial
completion.

e Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they no
longer contribute to the ability of the School District to provide services or when the value of
future economic benefits associated with the sites and buildings are less than their net book
value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the statement of operations.

¢ Buildings that are demolished or destroyed are written-off.

e  Works of art, historic assets and other intangible assets are not recorded as assets in these
financial statements.

o The cost, less residual value, of tangible capital assets (excluding sites), is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. It is management’s
responsibility to determine the appropriate useful lives for tangible capital assets. These
useful lives are reviewed on a regular basis or if significant events initiate the need to revise.
Estimated useful life is as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Furniture & Equipment 10 years
Vehicles 10 years
Computer Software 5 years
Computer Hardware 5 years

Pageotds




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

i)

k)

D

Operating Leases

All current leases meet the definition for operating leases and the related payments are charged
to expenses as incurred.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses such as fees and dues are recorded as a prepaid expense, stated at acquisition
cost and are charged to expense over the periods expected to benefit from them.

Funds and Reserves

Certain amounts, as approved by the Board are set aside in accumulated surplus for future
operating and capital purposes. Transfers to and from funds and reserves are an adjustment to
the respective fund when approved.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis in the period in which the transactions or events
occurred that gave rise to the revenues, the amounts are considered to be collectible and can be
reasonably estimated.

Contributions received, or receivable where eligibility criteria have been met, are recognized as
revenue except where the contribution meets the criteria for deferral as described below.
Eligibility criteria are the criteria that the School District has to meet in order to receive the
contributions, including authorization by the transferring government or organization.

For contributions subject to a legislative or contractual stipulation or restriction as to their use,
revenue is recognized as follows:

¢ Non-capital contributions for specific purposes are recorded as deferred revenue and
recognized as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred,

o Contributions restricted for site acquisitions are recorded as revenue when the sites are
purchased, and

¢ Contributions restricted for tangible capital assets acquisitions or construction, other than
sites, are recorded as deferred capital revenue and amortized over the useful life of the
related assets.

Donated sites are recorded as revenue at fair market value when received or receivable. Donated
tangible capital assets other than sites are recorded at fair market value and amortized over the
useful life of the assets.

Pagesiy 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

1) Revenue Recognition (Continued)

The accounting treatment for restricted contributions is not consistent with the requirements of
Canadian public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be
recognized as revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met
unless the transfer contains a stipulation that meets the criteria for liability recognition in which
case the transfer is recognized as revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished. See
note 2(a) for the impact of this policy on these financial statements.

Revenue from transactions with performance obligations is recognized when (or as) the
performance obligation is satisfied (by providing the promised goods or services to a payor).

Revenue from transactions with no performance obligations is recognized when the district:
(2) has the authority to claim or retain an inflow of economic resources; and
(b) identifies a past transaction or event that gives rise to an asset.

Investment income is reported in the period earned. When required by the funding party or
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue or deferred capital revenue is added
to the deferred revenue balance.

m) Expenditures

Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received
during the year is expensed.

Categories of Salaries

e DPrincipals, Vice-Principals, and Directors of Instruction employed under an administrative
officer contract are categorized as Principals and Vice-Principals.

¢ Superintendents, Assistant Superintendents, Secretary-Treasurers, Trustees and other
employees excluded from union contracts are categorized as Other Professionals.

Allocation of Costs

e Operating expenses are reported by function, program, and object. Whenever possible,
expenditures are determined by actual identification. Additional costs pertaining to specific
instructional programs, such as Indigenous education and special education, are allocated to
these programs. All other costs are allocated to related programs.

e Salaries of personnel assigned to two or more functions or programs are allocated based on
the time spent in each function and program. Principals and Vice-Principals salaries are
allocated to school administration and may be partially allocated to other programs to
recognize their other responsibilities.

e Employee benefits and allowances are allocated to the same programs, and in the same
proportions, as the individual’s salary.

e Supplies and services are allocated based on actual program identification.

Pagroids




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

n) Financial Instruments

A contract establishing a financial instrument creates, at its inception, rights to receive or
obligations to deliver economic benefits. Financial assets and financial liabilities portray these
rights and obligations in the financial statements. The School District recognizes a financial
instrument when it becomes a party to a financial instrument contract.

Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, and other liabilities.

Portfolio investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market are recorded at fair value.
All other financial assets and liabilities are recorded at cost or amortized cost and the associated
transaction costs are added to the carrying value of these investments upon initial recognition
and amortized using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs are incremental costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of a financial asset or the issue of a financial liability.

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are
recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized
in the statement of operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are
reported in the statement of operations. There are no remeasurement gains or losses during the
periods presented; therefore, no statement of remeasurement gains or losses is included in these
financial statements.

All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets
are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is
used to determine interest revenue or expense.

0) Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in
Note 2(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Significant areas requiring the use of management
estimates relate to the potential impairment of assets, rates for amortization and estimated
employee future benefits. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Pagt01g 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 3 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - OTHER

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Due from Federal Government $ 332,586 $ 194,114
Other 687,849 894,074
$ 1,020,435 $ 1,088,188

NOTE 4 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES - OTHER

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Trade payables $ 8,192,945 $ 2,471,200
Salaries and benefits payable 632,053 564,843
Accrued vacation pay 194,096 175,302
$ 9,019,094 $ 3,211,345
NOTE 5 UNEARNED REVENUE
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Balance, beginning of year $ 35,538 $ 108,963
Increase:
Tuition fees collected 71,950 62,225
Rentals and leases payments collected 3,250 -
75,200 62,225
Decrease:
Tuition fees recognized 71,950 87,200
LEA payments recognized - 33,988
Early Career Mentorship funding recognized 14,462
71,950 135,650
Net changes for the year 3,250 (73,425)
Balance, end of year $ 38,788 $ . 35,538

Pageriss




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 6 DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue includes unspent grants and contributions received that meet the description of a
restricted contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury
Board, i.e., the stipulations associated with those grants and contributions have not yet been

fulfilled.

Balance, beginning of year

Changes for the year:
Increase:
Provincial Grants — Ministry of Education
and Child Care
Provincial Grants - Other
Other
Investment Income

Decrease:
Salaries
Employee Benefits
Services and Supplies

Net changes for the year

Balance, end of year

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
$ 2,120,630 $ 1,707,673
5,440,090 4,931,121
114,864 119,429
1,127,054 1,380,158
6,853 7,449
6,688,861 6,438,157
3,834,057 3,800,536
883,770 724,293
1,850,182 1,500,371
6,568,009 6,025,200
120,852 412,957

$ 2,241,482 § 2,120,630

Pagé21gf 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 7 DEFERRED CAPITAL REVENUE

Deferred capital revenue includes grants and contributions received that are restricted by the
contributor for the acquisition of tangible capital assets that meet the description of a restricted
contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury Board. Once
spent, the contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the asset acquired.

Balance, beginning of year

Increase:
Transfer from Unspent - Capital Additions
Transfer from Unspent - Work in progress
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education
Provincial Grants - Other
Other Income

Decrease:
Amortization of Deferred Capital
Capital Additions - transfer to Deferred Capital
Work in Progress - transfer to Deferred Capital
Site Purchases - transfer to Revenue

Net changes for the year
Balance, end of year

Total Total
Deferred Deferred
Deferred Unspent Capital Capital
Capital Capital Revenue Revenue
June 30, 2025 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
$ 28,691,313 § 4,660,592 $ 33,351,905 $ 25,915,276
2,663,909 - 2,663,909 2,345,763
8,871,762 - 8,871,762 1,753,572
- 10,976,607 10,976,607 3,895,975
- 1,282,235 1,282,235 4,835,089
- 331,058 331,058 -
11,535,671 12,589,900 24,125,571 12,830,399
1,348,370 - 1,348,370 1,294,435
- 2,663,909 2,663,909 2,345,763
- 8,871,762 8,871,762 1,753,572
- 196,052 196,052 -
1,348,370 11,731,723 13,080,093 5,393,770
10,187,301 858,177 11,045,478 7,436,629
38,878,614 5,518,769 44,397,383 33,351,905

Pageds




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 8 EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-vested sick leave, retirement/severance,
vacation, and banked overtime. Funding is provided when the benefits are paid and, accordingly,
there are no plan assets. Although no plan assets are uniquely identified, the School District has
provided for the payment of these benefits.

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Reconciliation of Accrued Benefit Obligation
Accrued Benefit Obligation — April 1 $ 572,601 $ 606,996
Service Cost 49,520 49,810
Interest Cost 24,027 24,219
Benefit Payments (73,128) (51,792)
Actuarial (Gain) Loss (108,065) (56,632)
Accrued Benefit Obligation ~ March 31 $ 464,955 $ 572,601
Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Fiscal Year
Accrued Benefit Obligation - March 31 $ 464,955 $ 572,601
Market Value of Plan Assets - March 31 - -
Funded Status - Surplus (Deficit) (464,955) (572,601)
Employer Contributions After Measurement Date - -
Benefits Expense After Measurement Date (11,517) (18,387)
Unamortized Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss 46,352 178,418
Accrued Benefit Asset (Liability) - June 30 $ (430,120) $ (412,570)
Reconciliation of Change in Accrued Benefit Liability
Accrued Benefit Liability - July 1 $ 412,570 $ 359,979
Net Expense for Fiscal Year 90,679 104,383
Employer Contributions (73,129) (51,792)
Accrued Benefit Liability - June 30 $ 430,120 $ 412,570
Components of Net Benefit Expense
Service Cost $ 44,433 $ 49,738
Interest Cost 22,245 24,170
Amortization of Net Actuarial (Gain)/Loss 24,001 30,475
Net Benefit Expense $ 90,679 $ 104,383

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted for measuring the School District’s accrued benefit
obligations are:

Discount Rate - April 1 4.25% 4.00%
Discount Rate - March 31 4.00% 4.25%
Long Term Salary Growth - April 1 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority
Long Term Salary Growth - March 31 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority
EARSL - March 31 11.5 years 9.9 years

Pagt1sF 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
NOTE 9 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
Net Book
Net Book Value Value
Net Book Value: June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Sites $ 6,899,452 § 6,703,400
Buildings 31,327,906 $ 30,084,416
Buildings - work in progress 10,625,334 § 1,753,572
Furniture & Equipment 188,323 § 251,556
Vehicles 518,759 $ 473,309
Computer Hardware 42,922 $ 3,578
Total $ 49,602,696 $ 39,269,831
June 30, 2025
Balance at Balance at
Cost: July 1, 2024 Additions Disposals June 30, 2025
Sites $ 6,703,400 $ 196,052 $ - $§ 6,899,452
Buildings 70,978,629 2,663,909 - 73,642,538
Buildings - work in progress 1,753,572 8,871,762 - 10,625,334
Furniture & Equipment 666,283 - (67,915) 598,368
Vehicles 733,463 121,691 (63,799) 791,355
Computer Hardware 11,938 46,368 - 58,306
Total $ 80,847,285 $ 11,899,782 §$ (131,714) § 92,615,353
Balance at Balance at
Accumulated Amortization: July 1,2024 Amortization Disposals June 30, 2025
Sites $ -3 - § - $ -
Buildings 40,894,213 1,420,419 - 42,314,632
Furniture & Equipment 414,727 63,233 (67,915) 410,045
Vehicles 260,154 76,241 (63,799) 272,596
Computer Software - - - -
Computer Hardware 8,360 7,024 - 15,384
Total $ 41577454 % 1,566,917 $ (131,714) § 43,012,657

Page,28s




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 9 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

June 30, 2024
Balance at Balance at

Cost: July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals June 30, 2024

Sites $ 6,703,400 $ -3 - $ 6,703,400
Buildings 68,632,866 2,345,763 - 70,978,629
Buildings - work in progress - 1,753,572 - 1,753,572
Furniture & Equipment 1,050,385 - (384,102) 666,283
Vehicles 754,097 - (20,634) 733,463
Computer Software 6,498 - (6,498) -
Computer Hardware 11,938 - - 11,938
Total $ 77,159,184 § 4,099,335 § (411,234) $ 80,847,285

Balance at Balance at

Accumulated Amortization: July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals June 30, 2024

Sites $ - $ - $ -3 -
Buildings 39,528,003 1,366,210 - 40,894,213
Furniture & Equipment 712,996 85,833 (384,102) 414,727
Vehicles 206,408 74,380 (20,634) 260,154
Computer Software 5,850 648 (6,498) -
Computer Hardware 5,972 2,388 - 8,360
Total $ 40,459,229 § 1,529,459 §$ (411,234) $ 41,577,454

Buildings - work in progress having a value of $10,625,334 (2024: $1,753,572) have not been
amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into service.

NOTE 10 WRITE-DOWN AND WRITE-OFF OF SITES AND BUILDINGS
Kanata Elementary School and Seal Cove Elementary School were closed on July 1, 2008 and the
buildings were demolished in the year ended June 30, 2020. There has been no write-down of the

land associated with these sites at June 30, 2025.

Ecole Westview Elementary School was closed on August 31, 2011. There has been no write-down
or disposal of this land or building at June 30, 2025.

Page62df 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 10 WRITE-DOWN AND WRITE-OFF OF SITES AND BUILDINGS (Continued)

The net book value of the closed school sites at June 30, 2025 is as follows:

Kanata Seal Cove Westview
Elementary  Elementary Elementary

School School School
Land $ 258,741  § 98,053 § 96,364
Buildings 1,372,794

258,741 98,053 1,469,158

Accumulated Amortization (1,408,111
Net Land and Buildings 258,741 98,053 61,047
Less
Net Deferred Capital Revenue - - 45,005
Net Book Value $ 258,741 § 98,053 $ 16,042

NOTE 11 EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS

The School District and its employees contribute to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and Municipal
Pension Plan (jointly trusteed pension plans). The boards of trustees for these plans, representing
plan members and employers, are responsible for administering the pension plans, including
investing assets and administering benefits. The plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension
plans. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2024, the Teachers’
Pension Plan has about 51,000 active members and approximately 42,000 retired members. As of
December 31, 2024, the Municipal Pension Plan has about 256,000 active members, including
approximately 31,000 from school districts.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plans
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and
member contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on
the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plans. This rate may
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Plan as at December 31, 2023,
indicated a $4,572 million surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021,
indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The school district paid $2,499,199 for employer contributions to the plans for the year ended
June 30, 2025 (2024: $2,485,455).

Pagetds




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 11 EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS (Continued)

The next valuation for the Teachers’ Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2026. The next
valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan was December 31, 2024.

Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is
because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, resulting
in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual
employers participating in the plans.

NOTE 12 INTERFUND TRANSFERS

For the year ended June 30, 2025, a total of $168,059 was transferred from the operating fund to
capital funds for the purchase of vehicles. There were no funds transferred from the special purpose
funds to the capital fund for capital purchases.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, there were no funds transferred from the operating fund nor from
the special purpose funds to the capital fund for capital purchases.

NOTE 13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The School District is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia
ministries, agencies, school districts, health authorities, colleges, universities, and crown
corporations. Transactions with these entities, unless disclosed separately, are considered to be in
the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount.

NOTE 14 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The School District has entered into two contracts for the lease of educational space. These
contractual obligations will become liabilities in the future when the terms of the contracts are met.
Disclosure relates to the unperformed portion of the contracts.

One building lease has a term that expires on August 31, 2032. Rates are renewed in five year
intervals, with the next rate renewal effective September 1, 2027. The amount of lease payments
from September 1, 2027 to August 31, 2032 is assumed to be equal to the current lease rate.

The other building lease has a term that expires on July 15, 2026.

Contractual Obligations  2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 2029-30  Thereafter
Building Leases $ 112,806 § 37,928 § 35,000 $ 35,000 $ 35,000 $ 70,000

Pag#sZs¥ 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 15

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Management is of the opinion that the School District has valid defenses and appropriate insurance
coverage in place for claims at June 30, 2025 or, if there is unfunded risk, such claims are not

expected to have a material effect on the School District’s financial position. Outstanding

contingencies are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are provided for based on management’s best

estimate of the ultimate settlement.

NOTE 16 BUDGET FIGURES

The annual budget for the School District for the year ended June 30, 2025 was approved by the
Board on June 17, 2024. In accordance with Ministry policy, an amended annual budget for the
School District was approved by the Board on March 11, 2025. The amended annual budget reflects
funding based on actual enrolment on September 30, 2024 and is considered by the Board to more
accurately reflect the expected results for the year. These financial statements show the amended

annual budget.

The annual budget and the amended annual budget are compared below:

202425 2024-25
Amended Preliminary Change
Revenues
Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education $ 32,375,413 $ 31,974,378 401,035
Other 159,778 97,358 62,420
Federal Grants 16,000 - 16,000
Tuition 68,550 136,000 (67,450)
Other Revenue 3,272,254 3,151,533 120,721
Rentals and Leases 114,280 30,000 84,280
Investment Income 214,140 104,000 110,140
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,364,670 1,365,802 (1,132)
Total Revenue 37,585,085 36,859,071 726,014
Expenses
Instruction 29,533,117 28,826,360 706,757
District Administration 2,337,680 1,942,747 394,933
Operations and Maintenance 5,695,699 5,930,305 (234,606)
Transportation and Housing 690,680 645,376 45,304
Total Expenses 38,257,176 37,344,788 912,388
Surplus (Deficit) for the year (672,091) (485,717) (186,374)
Budgeted Allocation of Surplus 515,265 328,891 186,374
Surplus (Deficit) for the Year (156,826) $§  (156,826) -

Pagrotds




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 17 EXPENSE BY OBJECT

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Salaries and benefits $ 31,086,069 $ 30,018,436
Services and supplies 5,199,420 3,993,395
Amortization 1,566,917 1,529,459

$ 37,852,406 $ 35,541,290

NOTE 18 INTERNALLY RESTRICTED SURPLUS

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Operating Fund Accumulated Surplus
Internally Restricted (appropriated) by Board for:
Deferred Vehicle Purchase $ - $ 60,000
School Supplies - School Generated Funds 201,941 194,076
Indigenous Education - Targeted Funds - 12,991
Indigenous Education - Language Authority Funds 100,403 97,526
Total Internally Restricted Operating Surplus 302,344 364,593
Unrestricted Operating Surplus (Contingency) 1,900,202 1,472,163
Total Operating Fund Accumulated Surplus $ 2,202,546 $ 1,836,756
Special Purpose Funds Surplus $ - $ -
Capital Fund Accumulated Surplus
Invested in Capital Assets 5,698,150 5,552,586
Total Capital Fund Accumulated Surplus $ 5,698,150 $ 5,552,586
Total Accumulated Surplus $ 7,900,696 $ 7,389,342

NOTE 19 ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE

The operations of the School District are dependent on continued funding from the Ministry of
Education and Child Care and various governmental agencies to carry out its programs. These
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Pags0i 98



SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 20 RISK MANAGEMENT

The School District has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk, market risk and liquidity risk. The Board ensures that the School District has identified its risks
and ensures that management monitors and controls or mitigates them.

a) Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to an institution if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from
certain financial assets held consisting of cash, amounts receivable and investments.

The School District is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by a debtor. This
risk is mitigated as most amounts receivable are due from the Province and are collectible.

It is management’s opinion that the School District is not exposed to significant credit risk
associated with its cash deposits and investments as they are placed in recognized British
Columbia institutions or held by the Ministry of Finance.

b) Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk and
interest rate risk.

e Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in the foreign exchange rates. It is management’s opinion that
the School District is not exposed to significant currency risk, as amounts held and purchases
made in foreign currency are insignificant.

o Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The School District is not
exposed to significant interest rate risk as it does not hold portfolio investments.

¢) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the School District will not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they become due.

The School District manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash
flows from operations and anticipated investing activities to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the School District’s
reputation.

Risk management and insurance services for all School Districts in British Columbia are provided
by the Risk Management Branch of the Ministry of Finance. There have been no changes to risk
exposure from 2024 related to credit, market or liquidity risks.

P%%eo%QS




SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NOTE 21 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

Legal liabilities exist for the removal and disposal of asbestos and other environmentally hazardous
materials within some district owned buildings that will undergo major renovations or demolition in
the future. A reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation was recognized using the modified
retroactive approach as at July 1, 2022. The obligation was measured at current cost as the timing of
future cash flows cannot be reasonably determined. These costs have been capitalized as part of the
assets’ carrying value and are amortized over the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Asset Retirement Obligation, July 1, 2024 $ 5,025,000
Settlements during the year -
Asset Retirement Obligation, closing balance $ 5,025,000

Paggif o8



o THIT ST0T ‘pT oquuandas
8S08-THOT-L8LT -UOISIA

TYE68E°L 969°006°L 0ST'869°S - 9PS TOLT 7 JuauIdE)S - Ieak 3o pud ‘rya( snjding pajemunIdy
TLS'E80°T PSETIS $9S'SPI - 06L°S9€ 1eaf Y3 a0} saguey) PN
- 650°891 (650°891) peseyoIny siessy [ende)) s[qidue],

SI9JSURI], pUMyISIUY

7LS'E80°1 ySETIS (s6+'70) 678°¢ES Teak 3y 101 (310ge() snidmg
Ie3k 3y3 10§ saduey)
0LL*SOE’9 THE68E L 985°T5S°S 96.°9¢8°1 1894 Jo Suruurdaq ‘Groyga) sniding pajenunddy

$ $ 3 $ $
ey Ny puny pung punyj
20T $70T reude) asodang ferods SugeasdQ

ST0T “0¢ Sunf papuy Ieax
punyg £q (oge() snjdmg pojenuumooy Ut se5uey)) JO A[NpIYds

(panpueusy) [ S[nPayds Ch@@ﬂm Qoﬂmhaﬁv 7S "ON PLOSI( [00YdS

53 of 98




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Schedule of Operating Operations

Schedule 2 (Unaudited)

Year Ended June 30, 2025
2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ $ $
Revenues
Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education and Child Care 27,139,065 27,188,861 26,530,396
Other 32,483 32,483 64,044

Tuition 68,550 71,950 87,200

Other Revenue 2,111,352 2,553,029 2,384,819

Rentals and Leases 114,280 133,391 25,528

Investment Income 214,140 271,615 213,240

Total Revenue 29,679,870 30,251,329 29,305,227
Expenses

Instruction 23,678,744 23,654,279 22,940,191

District Administration 2,129,748 1,998,879 1,866,924

Operations and Maintenance 3,984,530 3,781,411 2,915,811

Transportation and Housing 342,113 282,911 263,705

Total Expense 30,135,135 29,717,480 27,986,631
Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the year (455,265) 533,849 1,318,596
Budgeted Appropriation (Retirement) of Surplus (Deficit) 515,265
Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (168,059)

Local Capital (60,000)

Total Net Transfers (60,000) (168,059) -
Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), for the year - 365,790 1,318,596
Operating Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 1,836,756 518,160
Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,202,546 1,836,756
Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year

Internally Restricted 302,344 364,593

Unrestricted 1,900,202 1,472,163

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,202,546 1,836,756
Version: 1787-1041-8058 54 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42

Page 29



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Schedule 2A (Unaudited)

Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source
Year Ended June 30, 2025

2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ $ $
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care
Operating Grant, Ministry of Education and Child Care 27,019,841 26,975,245 26,251,515
ISC/LEA Recovery (1,057,104) (1,057,104) (1,057,104)
Other Ministry of Education and Child Care Grants
Pay Equity 706,027 706,027 706,027
Funding for Graduated Adults 711 711
Student Transportation Fund 117,597 117,597 117,597
Support Staff Benefits Grant 14,719 14,719
FSA Scorer Grant 7,506 7,506 7,506
Child Care Funding 100,674 108,268
Labour Settlement Funding 243,813 243,813 432,493
Other 72,079 57,643
Total Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care 27,139,065 27,188,861 26,530,396
Provincial Grants - Other 32,483 32,483 64,044
Tuition
International and Out of Province Students 68,550 71,950 87,200
Total Tuition 68,550 71,950 87,200
Other Revenues
Funding from First Nations 1,259,575 1,259,580 1,398,686
Miscellaneous
Jordan's Principle 304,926 360,829 370,093
Sundry Other Revenue 546,851 932,620 616,040
Total Other Revenue 2,111,352 2,553,029 2,384,819
Rentals and Leases 114,280 133,391 25,528
Investment Income 214,140 271,615 213,240
Total Operating Revenue 29,679,870 30,251,329 29,305,227
Version: 1787-1041-8058 55 of 98
September 24, 2025 11:42 Page 30




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Schedule 2B (Unaudited)

Schedule of Operating Expense by Object
Year Ended June 30, 2025

2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ $ $
Salaries
Teachers 10,919,883 11,087,099 10,898,885
Principals and Vice Principals 2,247,961 2,209,162 2,263,469
Educational Assistants 2,503,543 2,614,656 2,418,576
Support Staff 2,388,744 2,361,092 2,362,373
Other Professionals 1,824,485 1,790,591 1,495,614
Substitutes 1,185,553 1,125,083 1,128,157
Total Salaries 21,070,169 21,187,683 20,567,074
Employee Benefits 5,267,541 5,180,559 4,926,533
Total Salaries and Benefits 26,337,710 26,368,242 25,493,607
Services and Supplies
Services 1,070,833 875,204 (197,561)
Student Transportation 88,376 13,438 7,188
Professional Development and Travel 484,495 453,952 484,183
Rentals and Leases 203,127 191,386 210,466
Dues and Fees 49,975 52,168 54,002
Insurance 72,280 98,038 69,175
Supplies 1,204,940 1,044,055 1,280,927
Utilities 623,399 620,997 584,644
Total Services and Supplies 3,797,425 3,349,238 2,493,024
Total Operating Expense 30,135,135 29,717,480 27,986,631
Version: 1787-1041-8058 56 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42 Page 31



7€ 98ed

AT ST0Z b7 Baquandag
8S08-TH0T-L8L] TUOISIOA

£89°L8T'TT €80°ST1°T 16506L°Y T60°T19€°T 9S9°v19°C 791°607°C 660°L80°TT 6 - 1 suonpouny 1810,
- - - - - - - 6 uoduN g 18101
SIVNALRS 199 6
7€8°6PT SIL'LE 995°€ 1SS°801 - - - Luonouny [v10],
997°9p1 STLLE 155°801 uonepodsueL], JUSPMIS 0L'L
995°€ 995°¢ TORNSIURIPY SuiSnoy pue uoneuodsuel], 147,
Swisnoyg pue uoygverodsuel], L
POV 1991 6LS'S6T L89PLY 8ET'ILT'T - - - S uoypuUNy 1830,
- ssunn 95°¢
76£°79 76€79 SpUNOIN) JO SoUBUAUIBIN TS'S
$69°009°L 696161 9%L°80T 1 suone1ad() OUBUNULEA 0S°S
LIESLI 0£9°¢ L89PLT TONRNSIUNUPY 90UBUAIUIEIN pue suoneedQ 14'S
JIQUBUIUIBIA] pue mdoﬁﬁuwﬂo S
9€T° 1971 - €69°TLI‘1 £9L°09 - 08LLT - y uoouny [E10L
TYZ6LL 869069 £9L°09 08L°LT UOHENSIUNIPY SsauIsng 14y
TINETT TI1°¢TT SOUBLISAQD) JOLISI(] [OOYOS Y'Y
£88°8S¢ £38°85¢€ TONESIUNUDPY [EUCHEONPH 11"y
UOUBLSIUMUPY JOLUSI b
TTI7°SEI'8T 68L°168 SY9°6EY 0v9°076 9S9°%19°C 78€181°C 660°L80°1T I wopuny [e30],
TLET98T LLEY] SSO°0PT 0¥€°L09°1 UOHRLSIUIWIPY [00YDF 1]
775°699°1 956y S1s°121 90€°LT S6E0EE 908°01¢C ¥5°906 uoyeonpy SNoURSIpY] 1¢']
- Sururesy afenSueT ysyduyg 0¢°]
ISPOTEY LEE YT 661°S1T 379°6Y 6896581 6LY°86T 66%°95H°1 UONeONPH IAISTIOUL "]
0S6°€61 6TY 18T°s% 8€€°0T 6£1vTI Sugrosuno) 80’1
0TTE6Y PLIPT £01°881 6067 $991A19G ATRIQIT LO'T
- wamuMO.Hnm 122180 €01
969°S6L°6 €S0°1LS 1£6201 LYL'69¢ TLS'8TY 61771 7L6'80€'8 uoponLsu] Iensay 70’1
uoyinasuy [
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
ssLIB[RS saLIg[eS saLIe[eS R84 14N soLE[eg saLefey saLreeg
1elo L sajmsqnsg SjBUOoIsSS3Jo1d piLatly S)UeISISSy mMNQmuﬂmhm A s1Yoea ],
Y10 poddng [euoneonp pue sfedputag
$70T ‘0¢€ suny papuy 1ea
195{qQ pue wexdox] ‘vonoun, £q ssusdxg SuyeradQ
(pampneun) DT ANPIYS (319dny durrg) 7S “ON 1S [00YIS

57 of 98




YL STOT ‘pT Rquazdeg
8S08-THOT-LSLT TUOISIIA

1£9°986°LT SEISET0E 08Y°LIL'6T 8T 6PEC THT89€°9T 65S°081°S £89°L8T°1T 6 - | suopduny rejo,
- - - - - - - 6 =cﬁoﬂ=.wm ._N«OH.
SNIAIG 14 6
$0L'€9T E11TPE 11678C 788°001 670781 L6ITE 7E8°6b1 L uondung [g10],
¥EYT9T L6S0PE 9TY8LT 788°001 PPSLLT 8LT1€ 997°ob1 uoyeodsuely JuspnIS 0L,
1LTT 9151 S8p'y S8by 616 995°¢ TOTRNSIUNIPY SUISNOY pue uonenodsuel] [/
3uisnoy pue uoyejrodsues], £
118°S16°C 0£S'H86°C AT T IAS 6LY 08T TE6°6L6°T 87S°8€€ PO 1H9°T § uondunyg (830,
59°73¢ 66£°€79 L6609 L66°0T9 - - SOTHN 957
P3HTET 658°€ST TI6STT 76£°8¢ 07S°LL 8TI°ST 7679 SPUNOID) JO OUBUIIUIEIN T§°G
0£0°906°1 THP'888°T 1T6°0£LT 125°200°1 00¥°889°1 SOLL8T $69°00¥°1 suonesd() SOUBURIUIEIN 0S°S
£59°26T 0€8°81¢ I8S°CIE 695°66 TI0YIT $69°5¢ LIESLY UOLRISIUTPY S0URUAIUIEIN pue suoneedQ 145
moﬁﬁﬁuuﬂuﬂs pue mncmu«.smo S
$26°998°1 8L'671°T 6.8°866°1 9LL°6EY €01°6S5°T L98°L6T 9€T197°T $ uopauny [e30],
LY P8I‘T 61T19¢°1 81S°€8T°T 970°88¢ 65566 152912 1PC6LL UONRSIUINPY sseulsng [y
050°S61 102'02C €EPLIT £L8°C6 09Sb€1 8yp' 11 rAR XA SVUBWISAOD) JOLUSI(T [00YIS Ob'H
10%'L8Y 8TE 8PS 876°L8Y LL8°8S 1S0°62F 391°0L £88°85¢ TONRHSTUIWDY [eUOLRoUpH 11
UOPBHSIUWPY LIS ¥
161°0%6'7T PPL8LIET 6LTPSYET T01°L00°T SLI'LY9TT LIGTIS Y TIT°SEI8T T uonouny [ejo,
1SL'S01°T TSP'SEIT 00F°€6£°T 86701 706°062°C 0€5°82Y TLETIST UOHRNSIUIWPY (00405 [
659°€68°1 995°000°C 89L°661°T 795°LT1 907°2L0T #39°70% TTS699°T uopeanpy snousSipuy 1¢°|
66€ €LET L2 LTT - - Jurwres] ofenduw] ysidug o¢'|
SPSIFE'S 699°LLS'S 0b0°6£T°S 8LI6L 798°651°S 11¥°6£0°1 ISHOTIY uonEoNpY IAISO[IU] O] |
685°98¢ 866167 99TPHT 96 T0TEPT ST6Y 0S6°€6T Jurpesuno) 80°1
LOE9IS $90°87S W re9 (AR 0LT°919 050°€C1 0ZT°¢6¥ Sa01A18G AXRIqIT LO7]
$86°0L €9L'8L 086°y 086y - - sweido1d 19918 £0']
9S6YTLTI 658°090°¢1 9ST°8¥6°TI 075°¢89 9ELPIT T 0b0°69%°T 969°S6L°6 wononnsu] 1e[nday 70|
:o_uunrﬂmzm 1
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
[enidy uowﬁsm [enpPy mwm—nﬁa—w mwwuﬂoﬂ pue Sjjoudyg REIS 114N
¥20T $202 5207 PuE SDIAIS saLIe[es [e30], saKodwy e10L,

(paspneu) DT JnpPIyds

$T0T “0¢ sunf pepug Jea X
103[qQ pue werSo1g ‘uopoung Aq ssuadxyg Sunerndp

(1adny dduLig) TS *ON LIS [00YdS

58 of 98



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) Schedule 3 (Unaudited)

Schedule of Special Purpose Operations
Year Ended June 30, 2025

2025 2025 2024
Budget Actual Actual
$ $ $
Revenues
Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education and Child Care 5,236,348 5,207,932 4,864,503
Other 127,295 149471 74,573
Federal Grants 16,000
Other Revenue 1,160,902 1,210,023 1,085,662
Investment Income - 583 462
Total Revenue 6,540,545 6,568,009 6,025,200
Expenses
Instruction 5,854,373 5,729,242 5,425,054
District Administration 207,932 441,124 144,169
Operations and Maintenance 208,829 135,658 203,120
Transportation and Housing 269,411 261,985 252,857
Debt Services
Total Expense 6,540,545 6,568,009 6,025,200
Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year - - -
Total Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year - - -
Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year
Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), end of year - -
Version: 1787-1041-8058 59 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42 Page 34




S¢ adeg

LT STOT “pT wquadeg
8S08-IP01-L8LT “UOISIIA

60 of 98

A sd puny JuneradQ dy3 ‘ur paprodas pue ‘Aq papuny sosuadxy _«ﬂoumvvi
= - - - - - - - - (3suadxy) anuaAsy JON
SIIJSUBL], pUNJIdJU]
- - - - - - - - - SI9JSUEL], PUnyIauU] 9.10J3q (suadxy) anuIANY 39N
68L°89S 968 L8389 000°821 L689LY TEL'] 050°CT 061°66 859°SEl
61ty 0¥0°0S L6£°9 $89°91 L689LY TeLT 050°TT SYSI sayddng pue sasiazeg
9TE'e6 1L0°L 1LL'ST 1€5°0C £T8YT sigousg sekojdwmy
e ECy £€5°T¢ 06¥ P15S8 - - - 659'vL 062°66
838°31 06¥ samusqng
1€L°8L S[RUOISSOLT 1RO
7r5S8 06266 Jug uoddng
sTL'SEE 659vL SIuBISISSY [euoneInpy
sjediount 991A pue sjedoung
£€5°T€ SIOYORS],
ssueeg -
sasuadxy
68L°89S ¥+9°63 L88'9 000°8<1 L68'9L9 TELl 050°'TT 061°56 859°5€1
€8S 90T JUSULSIAUL
L68°9L9 TELL L9Y'1T QMUIATY YO
000°CS 10YIQ - SIURID [PIOUIACL]
68L°91S 968 £88%9 000°821 061°56 859°5€1 212D PIIYD PUB UOKLONPH JO ANSIULA - SIURIL) [BOUIACLY
SanuIAYY
9£0°977 - 8EI'ET - yYToLS 19€°6 9T'6L1 8LES - 1834 J0 pUd InUARY PILIPQ
68L°89S ¥9°68 L88'9 000821 L68'9L9 TELT 050°'TT 061°S6 859°¢¢€1 STMUIAIY 0} PABIO[[Y  :§S9T
$$5°919 19068 0ST'Z1 000°821 £16999 - 960°y1 £58°56 859°6El
9ze's SOOU] JUIUGSIAU]
£16'%99 0LL'S RsLue}
PIL'EE ISYIQ - SIURID) [RIOWIACL]
0617288 190°68 0SZT1 000°821 £58°56 859°5€L 818D P PUE UOHEONPH JO ANSIULA - SJURID [20UIACL]
SIURID PAOLLSTY PPV
1LT'8LT €88 SLL'L - 8TTT8S €60°T1 91Z'L81 SILY - 4834 yo Suruurdeq ‘Onudady PALRPQ
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
SINITAnuwe) JdA10 uIsd] 1Ie)g spunj Adojouyda], saLresIng puny [25)
‘98 Buong pajeIsusn uonwINpyY pue Jusmascxduy fioey
‘Apeoyg [ooyos teads sdiysaejogog Suruieay enuny

(paypneu()) V¢ 3Mpayas

§Z0T ‘0¢ oung popuy Ieax
109[qQ Aq asuadxyg pue spunyg ssoding [eroedg ut saSuey)

(radny 2duLIg) TS "ON PLUSI [00Y2S



9¢ 9deg

THLL STOT pT Wvquandos
8508-TH0T-LBLT “UOISIIA

61 of 98

$TIPE puny SunyeradQ Y3 ‘ux paiodas pus ‘Aq papuny sasuadxy E:cuﬁui
= =~ " - p - =z - - (oswadxq) anuaAdY N
SI9JSUBL], pUNLIIUL
- - - B - - - - - SI9JSUERL Y, PUNLIIIUT 310J3q (asuadXy) anuardy 9N
YTELI] Pr0'E9 0v9°'c6 L1l 8vS'18 986192 £69'7€T 0T5°095°T 795°02T
$TELI1 6€L'TS opL'e 6€0°C 6T€°0T 000502 sapddng pue sa0[A19g
186°1 1T9°LT - AT 820°T1 CAA L81°S6Y STE'PY sjyeuag sakojdurg
- $TEQ ELTTL TOL'8 908°6¢ 856'Sh 691°L1T ££E°S90°T LE9'SLI
YL 10L'8 ssnsqng
S[eU0ISSJ01 IO
y86°1 8565y Zug uoddng
8€8°¢ 1€8%9 sjueSISSy [euoneonpy
08T 908°6Y LE9'SLI sfedioutq 2014 pue sediouriq
691°L1T ££€°590°T SIOYOBIL
saueeg
sasuadxyg
¥TELIL ¥10°€9 0¥9°€6 VL 11 84S'18 986°19¢2 £69'¥€T 0Z5'095°T 295°0TT
STHOOU} JUSUNSOAU]
1L9° 69t°0€ 0ELYY ANUOAYY OO
IBG)Q) - SIRID) [RIOWIACI]
YTELIL €LELS 1L1°€9 0L 1Y 8518 9ST'LIT £69°9€T 075°095°C 795°0T¢ 3120 PIYD PUe UOHEITIPY JO ANSIUIA - SIUBID [RIOWIACLY
SINUAAIY
- 1218y - SLSOE L8TLY LTV'L 0T5'9S LG9SO - ATIA JO PUI QNUIAIY PILIFIQ
YTELIL Yy0°€9 0v9'€6 OvL 11 8YS 18 986'19C £69°V€C 0757095 795°02T JMUIAIY 0} PAIEIO[[Y  :SSI]
- 000°09 698°58 0SL'9 000°LS L81°6ST 9€0°09T L17°999°T 795°07¢
QUIOVU] JUSURSIAU]
000°01 691°0€ 866'Sy Q0o
ISGIQ) - SIUID) [BIOWIAOCLL
000°0S 00¥'ss 0SL9 000°LS 681°€1T 9£0°09T L1T999°T 795°02¢ a1e) PIIYO pue UOHEINPH JO AUSIUIA - SIUELD) [RIOWIACLY
SIRID) PAOLISTY PPV
YTELIL S91°1S TLLL §95°SE SE8‘IY 92T01 LLITE - - Jea4 30 Bulnui3aq ‘AnUIARY PALIIPQ
$ 3 3 $ 3 $ $
AIIqepaoyJy  WEIZ01g JIPpaS)  UILIEZIdpuny  UAIp[YyD Sunox S[001[0S Ut uonelIodsueaf,  SJIPIWIY - puny GSUUJEIS - puny pPeBIYIIAQ - punyj
Auey [eng uoyeInpyg Leq 0] Synsay yJedqg JuapnI§ ¥ eyug 3 wyuy JUIWAIUBYUT
29 JuIpm§ pooyppy) Apey SSAUW IS SuiBuey) [BIUITA UOLEN ISILY WOOISSE[D WO0ASSB[D WO0ISSE[D

(pagmpneu}) V€ ANPIYOS

$TOT “0¢ Sun[ papud ;eax
12[qQ Aq esuadxy pue spunyg esodm ye10ads ur saSuey)

(3redny dduLLd) 7S "ON IILISIQ [00YDS




LE98eg

WIT S20T ‘pT wquaddg
8S08-TH0T-L8LT :UOISIBA

62 of 98

puny 3ugeradQ ay3 ‘ul pajaodar pue ‘Aq papuny sasuadxy R:oEﬁ?«\_

0%S - - - 16¢€ 616'LT 8T1°89¢€ 90€°6L1 S6°0L
0¥S 16¢€ 616°LT 298°89T 166°S L85°S
910'cT 615°0¢ £1§
- - - - - - 0ST'LL 96L°Tvl S6€Y
S6EF
0ST'LL 96L°TH1
oS - - - 16€ 616°LT 871°89¢€ 90€°6L1 S6%°01
0¥ (8¢£°s€)
16¢€ 616°LT 99v°€0% 90€°6L1 S6+°01
6£0°98 65981 791'8 €67 €S T9TLYT 180'7Z SILTL 8TYEp LESTL
ors - - - 33 616°LT $Z1°89¢€ 90€°6L1 S6%°01
- - - LT5°1 €55 LYT 000°sT 789°L0€ 000°SL1 000°6T
LT8°T
rezy)
€55 LYT 000°sT 000°05€ 000°SL1 000°61
6L598 6¥9°81 918 99L°1S - 000°5T 191°€€l YEL'LY (4331
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 3
Q_sm.-oﬂtﬂh sjuer %.::m:: pue jsnay, jusan) sjueln) punyg Auﬁmmhnwwm 3 Aﬁutnukuvng
m%«k::am TN nIA TonBAOUUY JO usmoxg M:«ﬁhwoﬂ RCEREg) saanjng AIB]) bk.ﬂn& 0] saea X bu«a
[E)s80D) wspEY-Huy MI0MIN uery [euomssajoxd yEy Surpasg stk IMTAFS

(paupneu()) Ve Anpagas

(osuadxy) onuassy 39N

SIAJSUEL], punpaiuy

SIOJSUBLY, PUNLIAIU] 910§aq (ISUAAXTY) INUIAIY JON

sojddng pue saoialeg

sigauag sakordwyg
saymusqng
S[BUCISSJ0I] I3IO
3w noddng
SIUBISISS Y [PUONRINDY
sjedrouplg 991/ pue sjedougg
SI9YoE9L,

saLIe[Es

sasuadxy
QUIOOU] JUITSIAU]
AMUSATY PO

IOUIQ - SIUBIL) |BIOUIACI]
QIBD) PIIYD PUB UOHRINDPH JO ANSUIA] - SIUBID [BIOUIAOI]
SINUWIATY

1834 JO PUD ‘F0UdA3Y PILIdje(q
ONUSADY 0} PIIRIO[TY 18597

STHOOU] JUIUSIAN]

1[0

I9YIQ ~ SJUBIL) [BIOUIAOLJ

QIBD P[IYD PUB HOUBONPE JO ABSTUIA - SJUEBLD [BIOUIAGL]
SHUEID PARLSAY PPV

1834 Jo Suruuidaq ‘anuasdy paLIaJe
Jo suruuy 25

$T0T ‘0¢ Sun{ papug 1o
102[qQ) 4q ssuadxg pue spuny asodmy e1eds ur ssSuey)

(rdmy dourag) 7S "ON JPLUSI( [00Y9S



- TP STOT ‘pT quaydog
8S08-TH0I-LLT “MOISIDA

63 of 98

£97°¢cE pung FuneradQ sy3 ‘ur partodas pue ‘Aq papuny sosuadxy E:oﬁ%vi

N - - - (asuadxy) 9nuIAY 1IN

SI9)SUEL], pUnLIU]

- T z - B - SIOJSUEL], PUNLISIU] 91053 (IsuadxT) INUIATY JON

60L°LE 721°891 0LY'L6 - 080°91 00v'L8 ILYLG 60LY -
LT6'EL £25°SS 0LY'L6 080°91 LSL'9T 87T°€ 60LY serddng pue $991A195
69¢Y 90L°TT £85°T1 10€°0¢T sigouag aako[durg
SIv'61 £68°68 - - - 0906 Th6'EL - -
$36'€ saIMUsqng
Nwm.mN. S]BUOISSYOIJ IO
090°6¥ s woddng
6Tv's1 £68°68 SIUBISISSY [BUOLRONPY
mﬁmmwoﬂhm VA pue mﬂmmwoﬁﬁm
SIaYyodea ],
- saue[eg
' sosuadxy
60L°LE 2T1°891 0LY'L6 - 080'91 00F'L8 1LY°L6 60L'y -
SWOUT JUOUHSIAT]
60L°LE 7T1°891 0LY'L6 08091 00%°L8 60LY oMUY 1O
ILY'L6 10YQ - SIURID [BIOUIACI]
918 PIY)) PUE UOLBONDT JO ANSTULA - SIULID) [RIOUIAGI]
SINUIAIY
- 695791 - POF01 950°S - LL98T 'L £86'91 I894 JO PUB “INUIAIY PILVPA
60L°LE 7T1'891 OLY'L6 - 080'91 00v'L8 ILV'L6 60L'y - S0UIAIY O PAIBIO[[Y 1S9
$7E°0E 00€°6¥1 - - - 005°98 001'18 - -
SUWOIU] JUSUGSIAU]
8HE'0E 00€°6¥1 00598 050
001°18 10910 - SIVBID [BIOWIACI]
are)) Py PUe UOREINPH JO ANSTULA - SIURILD) [BIOUIACL]
SJuRLD PALISIY PPV
19¢°L 16€°181 OLY'L6 ¥9¥°01 9€1°1T 006 8Y0'St TE19 £86°91 194 Jo Surnurdaq AnudAdY PALIfIQ
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 9
1) [00Yd§ Jmoy puny s,uaipry) ueIH upjurq, 1y 7y yodg DSSI/ASVHER Alesing S3ATIEnIU]
13}V 7p dx0j3yg w:ﬁﬁ.m@‘m ung JIANOIUL A om.«-—wnwﬂ —«:o_uwu-_aaco ooqas q-oxd 3DA —NEMEOQQ
mncﬂwwmﬁﬂm 1Y PBYIO

$Z0T ‘0¢ Qunf pspug 183X
103[qQ Aq esuadxyg pue spung osodmg [eroeds ur saduey)
(paupnEu) VE ARPIYIS (3redny 9urLg) TS "ON PLUSI [00YdS




6€ 3deg

(pautpneu(]) V¢ 3NpIyds

THHIT §Z0T ‘bz Peundog
8S08-TH0T-LSLY :UOISIOA

64 of 98

_ 6£5°601 puny SuyeiadQ) 9y3 ‘u pajdodal pue ‘Aq papuny sosuadxy Enon%ﬁi
- . - - (asuadxy) anuIAdY ION
SI9JSueL], pUnyIajuf
- - - - SIJJSUELY, PURFIAIU] 910J3q (IsUadXT) INUIANY JaN
600°895°9 S9£°TS - -
T81°058°1 955" ey soyddng pue saoiatag
0LL°€88 798 syyeuag askordug
LSO'VES'E LYT'8 - -
006'¢y saymsqas
6ILTLE S[BUOISSJ01d JopQ
9€8°18T Jeis woddng
TT9°T68 LyT's SIUBISISSY [RUOTIEONDPY
SY6'LTT sjediounlg 2014 pue sfedunlg
SE0'S1ET SI19YE3 Y,
saure[eg
sasuadxy
600°895°9 59¢€°CS - -
€8S QWO JUOUNSIAU]
£20°01T°1 §9€£°CS ANUIATY 19O
1LY'6b1 /Y0 - SIUBIY) [BIOUIACL
LE6°L0T'S 9387 PJIYY) PUE UOLBONPH JO ANSTUIA - SIUBID) [BIOWIAOL]
SINUWIATY
W8P IV CTYS'IE S85°16 ILL°0S 1234 JO PU? INUIAIY PILIIPQ
600'895"9 S9¢£°TS - - SNUIATY 0} PABIO[[Y 3859
198°889°9 68118 $85°16 1LL°0S
£58°9 QWIOIU] JUSULSIAU]
$S0°LTT] 6811 $8S°16 »RO
Y98 Y11 I0YIQ) - SIURID) [BIOUIAOL]
060°0¥¥'S TLL0S 212D P[1YD) PUR TONBONDT JO ANSIULA ~ SJUBIL) [EIOWIAOIL
SHUEID) PAPILSTY PPV
0£9°021°T SI+'CE - - 134 Jo Surnurfaq ‘Onussdy pIrnR(Q
$ $ $ $
TVIOL ECiele] spueID) weagosd

wmeadoag poog

pooy feuonEN

$TOT "0€ dun( popug Ieax
199[qQ) Aq asuadxy pue spung ssoding [eroadg ur saSuey)

(dny 2durig) 7S *ON IPLISI [00Y2S



Schedule 4 (Unaudited)

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
Schedule of Capital Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2025
2025 Actual
2025 Invested in Tangible Local Fund 2024
Budget Capital Assets Capital Balance Actual
$ $ $ $ $
Revenues
Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education and Child Care 196,052 196,052

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,364,670 1,348,370 1,348,370 1,294,435

Total Revenue 1,364,670 1,544,422 - 1,544,422 1,294,435
Expenses

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets

Operations and Maintenance 1,502,340 1,490,676 1,490,676 1,455,081
Transportation and Housing 79,156 76,241 76,241 74,378

Total Expense 1,581,496 1,566,917 - 1,566,917 1,529,459
Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (216,826) (22,495) - (22,495) (235,024)
Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased 168,059 168,059

Local Capital 60,000 -

Total Net Transfers 60,000 168,059 - 168,059 -
Total Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (156,826) 145,564 - 145,564 (235,024)
Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 5,552,586 5,552,586 5,787,610
Capital Surplus (Deficit), end of year 5,698,150 - 5,698,150 5,552,586
Version: 1787-1041-8058 65 of 98
September 24, 2025 11:42 Page 40




1 38eyd

I STOT ‘e equaydog
8508-TY0T-LSLT UOISTOA

969°709°6p 6Ty - 6SL'8IS £7€°881 OV ES6'TY I5+°668°9 AN - SI9ssY [ende)) 9[qisue],
LS9'TI0EP Y8EST - 96STLT S¥00ly TEOVIETY 1234 J0 PUS ‘UOYEZPIOWY PIIB[NWNIIY
PILIEL - - 66L'€9 S16°L9Y -
PILIEL 66L°€9 S16°L9 spesodsyq powea(
19SBAI0S(]
LI699S°1 ¥T0°L 9L £€TE9 617°0CF1 189 A 913 JOJ UOHRZIHOWY :958II0U]
183X 31) 10§ s3duey))
PSYLLS TV 09¢°8 $S1°092 LTy €1T768°0F 134 §0 Burruidaq ‘UCHEZHIOWY PAE[NWRNY
£SE°S19°T6 90£°8S - SSET6L 89€°86¢ TLS'LI9T P8 7S°668'9 1234 Jo pud ‘5531304 UI A0\ PUE ISOD)
YEE°ST9°01 PEE'STI 01 I234 JO PUD ‘sSUB0LJ UL IO
610°066°I8 90€°8S - SSET6L 89€°865 8ESTHI'EL TS1°668°9 1834 Jo pud 950D
PILIEL - - 66L°€9 S16°L9 - -
PILIEE 66L°€9 S16°L9 s[esodstq paweaq
1988aI09(Q
070°820°€ 89€°0% - 169°121 - 606°€99'C TS0961
650°891 89€°9Y 169°1T1 puny SupeisdQ
196°658°C 606°€99°C 750°961 me[Ag - anuendy [ende) paufeQq
TWIOIJ SISBYDITY
19seaLouf
183X Y3 J0] sadury))
€1L°€60°6L 8€6°11 €9%°€EL £87°999 679'8L6°0L 00¥°€0L9 1e3£ Jo Juruuidaq 90D
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
®0L JreMpiey AI8MYOS SOPIYIA juswmdimby sgurpping SIS
Induio) Jyndwo) pue anyruaIn

(payipneun)) v Anpayds

$T0T “0€ sun[ papug Iea x
sjossy [eyide) ajqiSue],

(319dny 20urLg) TS 'ON PISI [00YDS

66 of 98



I

|

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
Tangible Capital Assets - Work in Progress
Year Ended June 30, 2025

Schedule 4B (Unaudited)

Furniture and Computer Computer
Buildings Equipment Software Hardware Total
$ $ $ 3 3
Work in Progress, beginning of year 1,753,572 1,753,572
Changes for the Year
Increase:
Deferred Capital Revenue - Bylaw 8,525,859 8,525,859
Deferred Capital Revenue - Other 345,903 345,903
8,871,762 - - 8,871,762
Net Changes for the Year 8,871,762 - - 8,871,762
Work in Progress, end of year 10,625,334 - - 10,625,334
Version: 1787-1041-8058 67 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42

Page 42




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Deferred Capital Revenue
Year Ended June 30, 2025

Schedule 4C (Unaudited)

Bylaw Other Other Total
Capital Provincial Capital Capital
$ $ 3 $
Deferred Capital Revenue, beginning of year 25,255,226 863,174 819,341 26,937,741
Changes for the Year
Increase:
Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Capital Additions 2,663,909 2,663,909
2,663,909 - - 2,663,909
Decrease:
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,277,802 30,351 40,217 1,348,370
1,277,802 30,351 40,217 1,348,370
Net Changes for the Year 1,386,107 (30,351) (40,217 1,315,539
Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 26,641,333 832,823 779,124 28,253,280
Work in Progress, beginning of year 1,708,137 45,435 1,753,572
Changes for the Year
Increase
Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Work in Progress 8,525,859 14,845 331,058 8,871,762
8,525,859 14,845 331,058 8,871,762
Net Changes for the Year 8,525,859 14,845 331,058 8,871,762
Work in Progress, end of year 10,233,996 60,280 331,058 10,625,334
Tatal Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 36,875,329 893,103 1,110,182 38,878,614
Version: 1787-1041-8058 68 of 98

September 24, 2025 11:42

Page 43



py 3ded

K11 STOT ‘pT LPquisydes
8S08-TPOI-L8LY ‘UOISIOA

69L°8IS'S - 0YE9EY'S £98°8 995°cS 1834 Jo pud ‘duefey
LLI‘8S8 - 06£°L9T°1 - (£12°60%) 183 X 9} 10§ SABUBYD) IIN
STLTELTL 850°1¢¢ SHRYI - 0T8°S8E°11T
Nmonwma Nmohwmﬁ SOSBYJINJ IS - SNUIASY 0] paLIgjsuel],
T9LIL88 850°I€€ SP8p1 658°52S°8 ssa1501d Ul IOM - YO 01 paLIgysuel],
606°€99°C 606°€99°C suonppy [ended - YD 01 paLajsuel],
1988109
006°68S°Z1 850°1¢€€ SETT8LT - L09°9L6°01
8S0°TEE 850°1¢€¢ »yo
SETT8TT SETTVTT Y0 - SiuRID) [eIoUIA0L]
LO9°9L6°0T L09°9L6°01 180 PIIYD PUB UOHBONPH JO AUSIUIA - SIURID [RIOUIAOL]
195BIOU]
183 X 9y 10y saduey))
765°099F% 056°891° £98°3C 6LLT9Y 1834 jo Suruuideq ‘Gouereq
$ $ $ $ $ $
#1001 rende) rende) feade) Teade) rende)
Y0 pue] TenuiAcld PIISIY BNTmm—
LYO DOAN

(payipneun)) @y AMPIYIS

§T0T “0¢ dunf papuy 1eo X
onuaasy Teide)) pauisye(y Juedsun) w seuey)

(@rodmy dourig) TS "ON ILISIQ [00YS

69 of 98




School District
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

SCHEDULE OF DEBT

Information on all long term debt is included in the School District Audited Financial
Statements.

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 4

70 of 98



School District
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) has not given any guarantee of indemnity under
the Indemnities and Guarantees Regulation.

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 5

71 of 98




School District
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

STATEMENT OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS

There were no severance agreements made during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6 (7)

72 of 98



NAME:

ELECTED OFFICIALS:

Toye, Kathleen
Maier, Kristy
Beil, Janet
Dalton, Danielle
Horne, James
Pucci, Micheal
Sanchez, Louisa

TOTAL ELECTED OFFICIALS

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION AND EXPENSE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
POSITION:

Board Chair
Board Vice-Chair
Board Trustee
Board Trustee
Board Trustee
Board Trustee
Board Trustee

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYEES PAID AT LEAST $75,000:

Anderson, Karina
Armstrong, Cecilia
Bains, Gurleen
Barak, Benjamin
Barak, Cora
Begley, Joyce
Bellis, Andrew
Bennett, Colin
Bernhardt, Jessica
Bielavin, Maksym
Bishop, Melissa
Bishop, Ryan
Boker, Erika
Bourque, Ginette
Boutin, Nicole
Bryant, Lonni
Burger, Lori
Cameron, Megan
Campbell, Alexander
Chow, Megan
Clifton, Ketli
Cronk, Michael
D'Angelo, Flora
Danroth, Christine
Davies, Donald
Davis, Sage
Dawson, Daniel
De Araujo, Kristina
Demings, Tina
Dennis, Christopher
Dickens, Tamara
Drabble, Timothy
Dueck, Danielle
Easingwood, Carissa
Eckstein, Reginald
Edzerza, Roberta
Einarson, Steven
Ellwood, Kathleen
Fabbi, Debra
Foote, Garth
Gamble, Marla
Garcia, Gabriel
Gautam, Dinesh
Gauthier, Erin
Gee, Ada
Genaille, Robert
Green, Lorraine
Guadagni, Mackenzie
Hague, Catharine
Halward, Nadia
Heffernan, Lucy
Hikida, Michael
Hill, Cameron

Hill, Eva Ann

Hill, Jodi-Lynne
Hodder, Catherine
Hughes, Barton
Jackson, Jacqueline
Janz, Jeremy
Johnson, Andrew
Johnson, Sarah
Kastner, Stacie
Kavalec, Sarah
Kertes, Thomas
Khaira, Paramijit

Teacher

Executive Assistant
Teacher

Teacher

School Vice-Principal
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Manager of Payroll
Teacher

Teacher

District Vice-Principal of Indigenous Education
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

School Vice-Principal
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Network Analyst
Executive Assistant
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

District Principal of Indigenous Education
Teacher

Teacher

School Principal
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Manager of Information Technology.
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

School Principal
Teacher

District School Food Coordinator
Indigenous Social Worker
Teacher

School Principal
Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

School Vice-Principal
Bus Driver

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

Teacher

District Principal of Learnings Services & Innovation

Page 1 of 3

REMUNERATICN:

17,769.96
15,715.96
15,305.96
14,895.96
14,895.96
14,895.96
14,895.96

EXPENSE:

3,409.75
5,5676.75
2,725.45
2,987.79
4,279.28

2,341.09

108,375.72

115,502.24
78,682.82
114,735.03
96,142.74
137,250.57
107,225.34
116,364.49
76,478.04
107,230.15
93,707.88
117,357.95
114,730.15
114,433.48
89,496.12
112,680.86
119,184.93
144,938.41
111,150.23
76,435.18
117,585.04
88,834.18
102,079.83
110,044.91
109,382.36
75,480.30
119,351.94
107,224.43
85,952.55
106,895.05
75,594.99
84,788.52
79,542.43
106,727.90
86,981.69
104,577.74
169,600.96
109,311.62
85,092.27
160,751.27
96,802.20
107,167.05
92,5668.10
112,632.96
77,479.16
94,513.29
117,336.50
86,335.31
156,327.73
80,000.10
77,854,56
95,751.24
76,188.07
167,374.55
113,756.42
123,925.45
95,311.15
108,576.32
113,095.08
160,445.32
75,647.25
97,702.38
96,107.12
85,048.93
120,207 47
170,398.96

21,320.11

10,132.17

1,000.00
2,532.88
151.19

1,505.62

3,325.36

1,000.00
22,810.12

1,445.96
1,075.00

2,112.76

569.86

2,501.02
2,121.82

543.20
4,275.64

6,963.26

73 of 98




NAME:

Kobza, Susan
Koopmans, Carrie
Kowal, Karen
Larson, Joanna
Laychuk, Derrick
Laychuk, Jolene
Leach, Rachel
Leask, Laura
Leighton, Lori
Levelton Leighton, Amy
Levelton, Kerri
Lihou, Aja

Ling, Vania
Loranger-Saindon, Arianne
Lyon, Kathleen
Macllroy, Kevin
MacLeod, Crystal
Mah, Cindy

Mar, Julian

Mark, Benjamin
Marlow, Melody
Marogna, Jean
Martin, Andrew
McAlister, Katherine
McDonald, Josh
McDowail, Michael
McNeil-Clark, Donna
Michaud, Andree
Moro, Cristina
Moro, David

Munro, Craig
Murphy, Kathleen
Neiser, Lauren
Nicholson, Donald
Nijiar, Kiranpreet
Offutt, Kathy
O'Toole, Alison
O'Toole, Troy
Papilion, Gary
Parker Dobson, Tatiana
Parnell, Shani
Patterson, Susan
Paul, Cindy Ann
Pereira, Denny
Pinkhasik, Jonathan
Polard, Shane
Pond, Sandra
Prajapati, Kinchankumar
Prohaska, Anna-Marie
Proskiw, Sheryl
Ragan, Kyla

Reed, Christopher
Rice, Alana
Raobinson, Tracy
Raobinson, Vonda
Rowse, Ann

Salyn, David
Samoil, Andrew
Sanders, Deborah
Saunders, Ryan
Sawatsky, Terrance
Sawka, Kevin
Sawka, Raegan
Scherr, Lisa
Sharma, Akshta
Sharma, Karishma
Sim, Daniel

Singh, Harpinder
Smith, Allison
Smithanik, R. Aisa
Smyth, Jennifer
Spencer Sr., Benjamin
Stone, Patricia
Strand, David
Street, Carla
Thomson, Tamara

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION AND EXPENSE
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

POSITION: REMUNERATION: EXPENSE:
District Vice-Principal of Early Learning & Childcare 143,540.60 2,688.44
Teacher 124,997.45 -
Teacher 85,812.89 -
Teacher 115,687.81 -
Teacher 119,034.30 -
Teacher 116,711.43 -
Teacher 77,583.72 1,000.00
Teacher 92,551.36 1,505.62
School Vice-Principal 140,991.18 4,497,01
Teacher 77,966.74 5,282.69
School Principal 165,178.46 -
District Principal of Human Resources 163,200.47 5,703.18
Teacher 114,711.68 -
Teacher 101,164.04 -
Teacher 91,797.94 -
Acting Director of Operations 108,393.08 157.49
Teacher 117,352,19 -
Teacher 114,721.58 -
Teacher 82,104.13 -
Teacher 79,632.79 -
Teacher 116,753.13 1,567.11
School Principal 160,729.27 4,258.50
Teacher 108,076.30 -
Teacher 85,957.70 -
Teacher 117,367.33 -
Schaol Vice-Principal 137,445.23 1,475.57
Teacher 107,224.60 -
Schoal Principat 160,751.27 652.96
Teacher 93,914.66 -
Teacher 95,265.53 -
Teacher 108,281.51 -
Teacher 106,582.01 -
Teacher 103,504.89 2,383.43
Maintenance 78,341.77 -
Teacher 77,5683.72 -
Teacher 117,590.80 -
Teacher 111,536.78 -
Teacher 120,160.08 -
Teacher 114,724.39 -
Teacher 107,231.08 -
Teacher 104,058.75 -
QOccupational Therapist 113,311.08 -
Teacher 106,707.58 -
District Financial Assistant 83,008.68 2,047 .61
Teacher 91,917.91 -
Teacher 84,342,16 -
Director of Instruction 196,645.37 9,145.25
Network System Analyst 80,255.98 1,941.17
Teacher 117,346.49 -
Teacher 98,166.45 -
Teacher 114,682.87 -
Teacher 93,990.62 -
Teacher 86,695.94 -
Teacher 76,400.62 -
Teacher 107,224.26 -
Teacher 93,253.46 -
Maintenance Foreman 92,051.73 151.19
Superintendent 223,108.08 16,960.62
Teacher 107,221.03 -
Teacher 100,387.13 -
Safe Schools Outreach Coordinator 75,548.48 2,779.96
Teacher 117,591.94 -
Teacher 117,374.38 -
Teacher 118,343.31 -
Teacher 83,960.43 1,000.00
Teacher 84,132.43 -
Teacher 85,086.55 -
Teacher 117,341.11 -
Teacher 94,358.15 -
Teacher 89,772.67 -
Teacher 113,865.71 -
Teacher 84,342.90 -
Teacher 87,018.50 -
Teacher 122,005.64 -
School Principal 169,626.73 535.63
Teacher 107,177.39 -
74 of 98

Page 2 of 3



NAME: POSITION: REMUNERATION:; EXPENSE:
Tillman, Kristy Teacher 107,177.39 852.99
Trask, Erin Teacher 106,685.92 -
Trimble, Bernadette Teacher 107,225.85 -
Turner, Brendan Teacher 116,794 .47 -
Vazquez Romero, Enrique Secretary Treasurer 144,081.84 20,230.64
Verissimo, Brittney Director of Finance 157,038.78 3,785.37
Warburton, James Director of Operations 98,179.57 1,471.92
Weatherby, Maria Teacher 117,234.51 -
Whettell, Odessa Human Resources Generalist 85,600.68 4,731.06
White, Garrett Teacher 97,478.60 -
Wick, Jason Teacher 110,098.12 -
Wright, Katelyn Teacher 109,464.38 -
Wright, Tianna Teacher 96,770.05 -
Yagi, Christopher Teacher 102,171.68 -
Young, Chiara Teacher 114,772.32 227.04
TOTAL EMPLOYEES PAID AT LEAST $75,000 $ 17.009,720.861 $ 182,940.38
TOTAL EMPLOYEES PAID LESS THAN $75,000 8,480,214.13 35,800.68
TOTAL REMUNERATION INCLUDING TAXABLE BENEFITS $ 2548993474 § 21874106

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION AND EXPENSE
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Total Employer Paid Portion of Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance

Page 3 of 3

$1,465,840,00

75 of 98




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS FOR SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

VENDOR NAME: EXPENDITURE:
SCHEDULE OF VENDORS PAID AT LEAST $25,000

4 SEASON MAINTENANCE LTD 34,726.13
AIR CANADA 44,021.20
AMAZON 96,845.10
APPLE CANADA 80,181.32
BABINE TRUCK & EQUIPMENT LTD 61,697.93
BC GREENHOUSE BUILDERS LTD 28,112.02
BC HYDRO 191,595.21
BC PRINCIPALS & VICE PRINCIPALS 25,506.97
BC TEACHERS FEDERATION-SIF 273,882.61
BCSTA 30,379.53
BONI-MADDISON ARCHITECTS 73,272.05
BULKLEY VALLEY WHOLESALE 48,549.52
CHAPMAN MECHANICAL LTD 201,531.65
CITY OF PRINCE RUPERT 268,296.93
CITYWEST 100,803.29
COAST MOUNTAIN COLLEGE 79,550.46
CORP EXPRESS CANADA INC DBA STAPLES 35,649.54
DELL COMPUTER CORPORATION 133,911.61
DESJARDINS FINANCIAL SECURITY 71,718.28
DISTRICT OF PORT EDWARD 45,152.86
EBY CONSTRUCTION GROUP 1,117,122.15
EDGE GEOENGINEERING LTD 110,225.20
ELLISON TRAVEL AND TOURS LTD 50,219.88
EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX 483,167.90
FALCON ENGINEERING 122,993.01
FJM OCEAN CENTRE ULC 83,275.88
FOUNDRY COMMERCIAL KITCHENS INC 218,565.06
FROSTY NORTHWEST MECHANICAL LTD 29,474 55
GORDON FOOD SERVICE CANADA LTD 209,245.81
HARBOUR MAGCHINING, WELDING & FABRIC 25,695.89
HARRIS & COMPANY 31,536.45
JEPSON DBA NORTHWEST FUELS 35,537.02
KAIEN ISLAND HARDWOOD 28,077.99
KMBR ARCHITECTS PLANNERS INC 1,278,737.38
KPMG LLP 58,632.61
LEC GROUP 46,163.25
LESTER CENTRE OF THE ARTS 35,000.00
MANUFACTURERS LIFE INSURANCE CO 31,407.95
MARSH CANADA LIMITED 106,426.00
MCELHANNEY CONSULTING SERVICES 114,769.03

Page 1 of 2

76 of 98



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS FOR SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

VENDOR NAME:

SCHEDULE OF VENDORS PAID AT LEAST $25,000

METLAKATLA GOVERNING COUNCIL
MIDWAY PURNEL SANITARY SUPPLIES LTD
MINISTER OF FINANCE

MONT-LEON MASONRY CONSTRUCTIONLTD

MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN

NORTH COAST ADANAC BUILDERS LTD
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS

PACIFIC NORTHERN GAS LTD

PACIFIC NW ELECTRIC & CONTROLS LTD
PINCHIN LTD

PIPES MECHANICAL

PRINCE RUPERT BUILDING MATERIAL
PUBLIC EDUCATION BENEFITS TRUST
RAINBOW CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP LTD
REGIONAL DISTRICT OF KITIMAT-STIKINE
RFS CANADA

RICOH CANADA INC

RUSSELL MATHER

SAFEWAY

SAVE ON FOODS

SILVERSIDES, MERRICK & MCLEAN
SOFTCHOICE LP

STOREY'S EXCAVATING

TEACHERS PENSION PLAN

TRI-CITY REFRIGERATION INC
VANCOUVER SCHOOL BOARD
WALMART

WESTPLAY CORP

WOLSELEY CANADA INC.

WORKSAFE BC

WSP CANADA

X10 TECHNOLOGIES INC
YELLOWRIDGE CONSTRUCTION LTD

PAYMENTS TO VENDORS PAID AT LEAST $25,000
PAYMENTS TO VENDORS PAID LESS THAN $25,000

PAYMENTS FOR SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

Page 2 of 2

EXPENDITURE:

190,000.00
112,637.23
28,568.98
26,223.80
655,441.33
61,570.22
616,892.67
311,869.20
180,326.70
33,160.74
50,767.50
35,605.72
209,908.42
122,278.66
149,967.06
35,600.66
58,185.95
91,425.00
74,745.28
109,233.99
93,928.13
30,266.69
177,408.81
1,866,066.88
136,408.13
203,080.99
49,352.26
200,970.72
57,659.18
430,332.52
33,828.61
50,512.00
299,686.15

$ 13,015,567.40

1,946,328.16

$ 14,961,895.56

77 of 98




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SGHOOL DISTRICT NO. 52 (PRINCE RUPERT)
RECONCILIATION OF PAYMENTS TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT EXPENDITURES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

SCHEDULED PAYMENTS:

REMUNERATION INCLUDING TAXABLE BENEFITS
EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

EMPLOYER SHARE OF CPPIEI

PAYMENTS FOR GOODS AND SERVICES

TOTAL SCHEDULED PAYMENTS

RECONCGILIATION ITEMS:

NONCASH ITEMS:
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE ACCRUALS
PAYROLL ACCRUALS
INVENTORIES AND PREPAIDS

PAYMENTS INCLUDED:
TAXABLE BENEFITS

OTHER:
RECOVERIES OF EXPENSES
MyEdBC
DIGITAL SERVICES RECOVERIES
CLASS EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES LIABILITY PROGRAM
SCHOOLS PROTECTION PROGRAM
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT
MISCELLANEOUS

TOTAL RECONCILIATION ITEMS

FINANCIAL STATEMENT EXPENDITURES:

OPERATING FUND
SPECIAL PURPOSE FUNDS
CAPITAL FUND

TOTAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT EXPENDITURES

25,489,934.74

218,741
1,465,840
14,961,896
42,136,411
5,721,745
86,004
128,695 5,036,444
(81,224)
(166,523)
18,080
50,192
19,096
81,304
11,545
48,232 61,926
5,917,146
48,053,557
29,717,480
6,568,009
11,768,068
48,053,557

78 of 98



School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
Dates for 2026/27 Annual Budget Consultation (ABC)

Tuesday, February 24, 2026 Working session # 1 with board, senior staff,
1-4pm partners only P/VPs, PRPVPA, PRDTU representative, [UOE
representative, and IEC to discuss resource
pressures, budget priorities, and potential
budget changes.

Tuesday, March 10, 2026 Information and discussion of resource
7pm in open regular board meeting | pressures and budget priorities.

Tuesday, March 31, 2026 Working session # 2 with board, senior staff,
6pm in open special board meeting | P/VPs, PRPVPA, PRDTU representative, IUOE
representative, IEC, and community to discuss
proposed budget changes.

Tuesday, April 21, 2026 Report back to public on input received and

7pm in open regular board meeting | Ministry Funding and proposed budget
changes.

Tuesday, April 28, 2026 Board meeting to do first budget by-law

7pm in open regular board meeting | reading.

Tuesday, June 16, 2026 Board meeting to do second and third budget
7pm in open regular board meeting | by-law reading.

Tuesday, June 30, 2026 Deadline for submission to Ministry.

79 of 98




Report on Agreed-Upon Procedures

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Year ended June 30, 2025

80 of 98




KPMG

KPMG LLP

177 Victoria Street, Suite 400
Prince George BC V2L 5R8
Canada

Telephone 250 563-7151
Fax 250 563-5693

AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES REPORT
To the Board of Education of School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)

Purpose of this Agreed-Upon Procedures Report

Our report is solely for the purpose of providing School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) with information
to assist the Board of Education and management in their determination of whether the School Trust
Accounts are in compliance with internal policies and procedures (“Purpose”) and may not be suitable
for another purpose.

Responsibilities of the Engaging Party

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) has acknowledged that the agreed-upon procedures are
appropriate for the purpose of the engagement.

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) is responsible for the subject matter on which the agreed-upon
procedures are performed.
Practitioner's Responsibilities

We have conducted the agreed-upon procedures engagement in accordance with the Canadian
Standard on Related Services (CSRS) 4400, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements.

An agreed-upon procedures engagement involves our performing the procedures that have been
agreed with School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert) and reporting the findings, which are the factual
results of the agreed-upon procedures performed.

We make no representation regarding the appropriateness of the agreed-upon procedures.

This agreed-upon procedures engagement is not an assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion or an assurance conclusion.

Had we performed additional procedures, other matters might have come to our attention that would
have been reported.

Professional Ethics

We have complied with ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence, relevant to
assurance engagements in Canada.

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG Intemnational
Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 81 of 98



kPG

Procedures and Findings

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
June 30, 2025
Page | 2

We have performed the procedures described below, which were agreed upon with School District

No. 52 (Prince Rupert).

Procedures

Findings

Selected 10 cash receipts from Conrad Street Elementary
School and 10 cash receipts from Pineridge Elementary
School bank statements, obtained receipt, bank deposit slip
or e-transfer receipt and general ledger and determine that:

The amounts per bank statement agrees to receipt and
bank deposit slip or e-transfer receipt

The cash receipt was properly recorded in the general
ledger, as to amount and period recorded.

KPMG identified a receipt for
Conrad Elementary School
pertaining to daycare fees for July
and August 2025 that was
incorrectly recorded as revenue
rather than as unearned revenue.
This misclassification resulted in an
overstatement of the accumulated
surplus and a corresponding
understatement of liabilities totaling
$1,620.

KPMG identified that a donation of
$8,000 received by Pineridge
Elementary School was incorrectly
recorded under the Sales account
rather than the Donation revenue
account.

82 of 98




KPMG

Procedures and Findings (continued)

School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
June 30, 2025
Page | 3

Procedures

Findings

Selected 10 cash disbursements from Conrad Street
Elementary School and 10 cash disbursements from
Pineridge Elementary School bank statements, obtained
invoice, cheque/payment requisition form and a copy of
cleared cheque and determine that:

- The transaction is a valid expenditure of the school and
is supported with proper documents.

- The amount per bank statement agrees with the
invoice, cheque/payment requisition and cleared
cheque.

The cleared cheque was signed by two authorized
signatories.

The expenditure was properly recorded in the general
ledger, as to amount and period recorded.

KPMG noted one disbursement of
$75 for Conrad Elementary School
without a proper receipt.

KPMG identified a disbursement of
$2,425.08 by Pineridge Elementary
School, related to the remittance of
June 2024 child care fees to the
School District board office, that
was not recorded in the appropriate
reporting period. This timing error
resulted in an overstatement of
both cash and accumulated surplus
in the fiscal year 2024.

Kins “X
7

Chartered Professional Accountants
Prince George, Canada
November 12, 2025

83 of 98




School District No. 52 (Prince Rupert)
Policy Committee
Monday, December 8, 2025
4:45 pm

MINUTES

In Attendance : Andrew Samoil
Enrique Vazquez
Kate Toye
Kristy Maier
James Horne (observer)
Janet Beil (observer)
Tammy Dickens

The meeting was called to order at 4:47 p.m.
1. Policies for Approval

a. 2110 — Staff Recruitment and Retention Policy

b. 1340 — Response to Unexpected Health Emergencies Policy
The committee agreed to send the Policies 2110 and 1340 for approval to the board meeting.
2. Policies for Review

a. 2370 — Remote Work Policy

b. 6510 — Board Communications Policy

c. 6610 — Making Policy and Regulations Policy
The committee agreed Policies 6510 and 6610 be sent for review at the board meeting. Policy
2370 will be tabled until after Wednesday for the committee to have a working session and then
sent for review at the board meeting.
3. Other Business

None

Meeting Adjourned 5:37 p.m.

Next Meeting: Monday, January 12, 2025

84 of 98




Policy No. 2110
Date Approved:  May 13, 2014
Date Amended:  Sept 25, 2023

2110

Staff Recruitment-and Retention Recruitment and Selection of
Personnel Policy

POLICY

The Board believes strong leadership and administration at the District and school levels are
essential to the effective and efficient operation of the school system.

Specifically

s

Any changes to the organizational structure shall be approved by the Board prior to the
commencement of recruitment and selection processes.

Superintendent

2,

The Board, in the case of the Superintendent, or the Superintendent, in all other instances,
shall have sole responsibility for initiating the advertising process and shall make
reasonable effort to ensure that all current District employees are made aware of staff
vacancies.

The Board has the sole authority to recruit and select an individual for the position of
Superintendent and anyone who is expected to act in the place of the Superintendent for
a period in excess of 180 days. In addition, the Board shall have unfettered authority to
negotiate all contract terms subject to any legislation.

In order to protect the Board from sudden loss of the Superintendent’s services, the
Superintendent shall ensure that staff are designated to perform the services of the
Superintendent in the case of a short-term or prolonged absence where the

Page 1 of 1 SIS



Superintendent is not available by electronic or other means, and that the Chair is advised
of such delegation.

Recruitment and Selection of Non-School Based Positions

5. The following process shall be followed for those positions which report directly to the
Superintendent, namely, the positions of Directors and Secretary-Treasurer.

a.

The Superintendent is delegated full authority to recruit and select senior staff and
District management positions within the limitations of legislation, budget
allocations, and collective agreements.

The Superintendent shall engage in a consultative process in order to assist in the
development of an ideal candidate profile.

These positions shall have a written role description and the person occupying
each of the positions shall have a written contract of employment consistent with
the Board approved contract provisions regarding maximum vacation entitlement,
professional development, and terminations.

Compensation will be determined based on BCPSEA compensation guidelines
when required. In the absence of such guidelines the Board shall approve the
compensation provided.

If the position is of a temporary nature (less than one year) the Superintendent is
authorized to make unique contractual provisions in light of the District's
geographical location to ensure the District can hire a high-quality candidate.

The Superintendent shall develop an interview panel for these positions providing
the panel includes trustee representation. The panel shall attempt to reach
consensus on the preferred candidate. If such consensus cannot be reached the
decision will be that of the majority provided the Superintendent is part of the
majority.

6. The Superintendent is delegated full authority to recruit and select staff for all other non-
school based positions within the limitations of legislation, budget allocations, contracts,
and collective agreements.

Principal and Vice-Principal Positions

At the discretion of the Superintendent and within the constraints of this policy, principal
or vice-principal vacancies shall be filled through either: Principal or Vice-principal
mobility, or through competition for a posted vacancy.

Principal and Vice-principal mobility

a.

b.

The Board of Education believes that changes in Principal and Vice-Principal
assignments can be positive for professional growth and the strengthening of
system leadership.

The Superintendent is delegated authority for determining such changes in Vice-
Principal to Vice-Principal and Principal to Principal assignments.

Consideration for transfer may be initiated at the request of either the Vice-
Principal, Principal, or the Superintendent. Normally, such consideration shall be

Page 1 of 1 86 of 98



given after the Principal has held an appointment for a reasonable period of time,
and there is deemed to be a District value in such a transfer.
d. Once mobility transfers have been completed the Superintendent shall inform the
Board prior to the posting of vacant Principal and Vice-Principal positions.
9. Competition for Posted vacancy for Principal or Vice-Principal Positions
a. The Superintendent is delegated full authority for all aspects of the selection
processes for the positions of Principal and Vice-Principal.

All Other School-Based Positions

10. The Superintendent is delegated full authority to recruit, select, assign, and reassign staff,
for all other school-based positions, within the limitations of legislation, budget
allocations, contracts, and collective agreements.

11. All offers of employment shall be conditional on the successful applicant providing
criminal records check acceptable to the Superintendent unless such criminal reference
checks are the responsibility of the Criminal Records Review Program (Ministry of Public
Safety and Solicitor General.)

REFERENCES

2110-10 Training to Fill Vacancies
2110-20 Advertising Vacant Positions
2110-30 Interview Expenses

2110-40 Employee Reference Check

e Collective Agreement with the Prince Rupert District Teachers Union

e Collective Agreement with the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 882-B
e British Columbia Labour Relations Code

e Employment Standards Act (British Columbia)

e Human Rights Code of British Columbia

s DRIPPA

Page 1 of 1 G et



Policy No. 1340
Date Approved:
Date Amended:

1340 Response to Unexpected Health Emergencies Policy

POLICY STATEMENT

A timely and effective response to unexpected health emergencies is essential to ensuring a safe
school environment. Unexpected health emergency incidents can occur without warning and require
immediate action to improve survival outcomes by providing critical intervention before emergency
responders arrive. The Board of School District 52 (Prince Rupert) is committed to ensuring that all
schools are equipped with lifesaving first aid tools, including Automated External Defibrillators and
naloxone kits, that are readily accessible and maintained in every school and every District site.

1. Staff will document each instance of response to unexpected emergencies to the
administration staff. The administration staff or designate will communicate with the
student’s family and debrief with the staff involved.

2. Privacy, confidentiality, and information sharing will follow the policies set out in FOIPPA.

GUIDING LEGISLATION

e Support Services for Schools Order, M198/25, Section 8
e School Act, Section 88(1)
e Good Samaritan Act

Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs)

AEDs serve as a critical tool in saving lives in emergency situations involving cardiac arrest. The District
has authorized the placement and use of AEDs in all schools and District sites.

1. The Director of Operations or designate, will be responsible for the selection, placement and
regular maintenance of AEDs.

2. AEDs will meet Health Canada’s Medical Device Regulations and will be approved by the
Canadian Standards Association.

3. Placement of AEDs will be installed in readily accessible, barrier-free locations and will be
clearly marked with standardized signage to support easy identification and use.

4. The Director of Operations will conduct routine inspections as per the specific AED manual'’s
maintenance and testing schedule. Batteries, pads, and other necessary accessories will be
stored in a safe, accessible place.

5. Recommended specific training for use/application of AEDs will be made available to all staff
through site-based administration.

88 of 98



Naloxone Kits

Naloxone is a fast-acting antidote administered to reverse an opioid overdose. It is effective
specifically for overdoses caused by heroin, fentanyl, and prescription pain medications. Naloxone kits
are designed to provide enough medication to temporarily reverse the effects of an overdose, allowing
time for emergency services to arrive. Under the Good Samaritan Act anyone may administer
naloxone in an emergency situation outside of a hospital setting. This includes staff, students, parents
and volunteers. Naloxone has no effect on a person if they have not taken opioids.

1. All schools will maintain on-site naloxone kits in a designated, accessible, and secure location.
A minimum of two kits will be stored at each facility.

2. To treat a suspected opioid overdose in a school setting, a staff member trained in opioid
overdose response may administer naloxone to any person (student, employee, or member of
the public) suspected of having an opioid-related drug overdose.

3. Staff trained in opioid identification and naloxone administration will call 911 (or designate the
calling responsibility) and then may choose to give naloxone and/or cardiopulmonary
resuscitation (CPR) depending on circumstances and training.

4. Responding to overdoses involves proper use of personal protective equipment, handling
syringes, and potential contact with drugs or blood and body fluids. If drugs are on the person
or the scene, they also must be handled carefully (gloves are required and located in the
naloxone kit).

5. For staff safety, staff will not be required to leave their school/site to respond to overdoses
occurring off site.

6. Procurement of Naloxone shall be done centrally on purchasing schedule based on the
purchase dates of the naloxone and the expiry date. This is the responsibility of the District’s
appointed Safe School Coordinator or designate.

Opioid overdose response training for staff, including the administration of naloxone will be provided
in-person at each site annually or optionally through online training via the Toward the Heart website
(1-hour).

89 of 98



Policy No. 2370
Date Approved:
Date Amended:

2370 Remote Work Policy

Rationale

This Policy has been developed to ensure that remote work can be accommodated in a safe and
secure manner in a home environment. Remote work may be required or permitted due to health
or environmental reasons, such as there is an issue with the building where no one is allowed to
enter for one or more days; the Ministry of Health is encouraging social distancing as part of
community efforts to slow the progression of a pandemic.

Policy

Provided that a safe and secure working environment is possible at home, school employees may
work from a home environment when the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of Health and/or the
Prince Rupert School District authorizes or encourages employees to work from home.

Definitions:

Working remotely means a situation in which an employee works mainly from home and
communicates with others via email, video conferencing and telephone.

Working alone means to work in circumstances where assistance would not be readily available to
the worker (a) in case of an emergency, or (b) in case the worker is injured or in ill health. Factors to
consider in determining whether and employee is working alone or in isolation:
1. Presence of others: Are other people in the vicinity?
2. Awareness: Will other persons capable of providing assistance be aware of
the worker's need?
3. Willingness: Is it reasonable to expect those other persons will provide
assistance
4. Timeliness: Will assistance be provided within a reasonable period of time?

Regulation
Prince Rupert School District Employees

In any circumstances where a Prince Rupert School District employee will be working remotely:
a) Employment entitlements and expectations remain the same.

90 of 98



b)

The Employee’s work hours; overtime compensation; use of sick leave; approval for the use
of vacation; request for a Leave of Absence; and compliance with Prince Rupert School
District policies, procedures, and guidelines remain in effects.

Employees are expected to be available during regularly scheduled business hours, for
communication by phone and email and/or online platforms. Alternate scheduled business
hours may be approved upon written request to the Principal.

If an employee is not available to work on any given day (example: illness, etc.), they are
required to inform the principal.

Employees are expected to maintain regular contact with their Principal and/or designate.

On a workday, employees should be in contact with their direct Principal and/or designate a
minimum of twice each day, which may include attending virtual meetings, sending emails,
checking in through an established method, or making phone calls. This provides for the
appropriate check-in procedures.
e The Principal must review the procedures for checking the well-being of workers.
e A person must be designated to establish contact with the workers at predetermined
times and the results must be recorded.
e The procedure for checking a worker's well-being must include contact at the
beginning and at the end of the employee's scheduled work day.
e In a case where the worker cannot be contacted, Principal and/or designate will:
o Phone the employee
o Phone the employee’s emergency contact
o Failing that, send someone to the employee's home, and
o Failing that, contact police or emergency services.

e Alternate procedures for checking a worker's well-being must be approved in
consultation with the worker and school Work Safe Committee.

All employees must ensure that they have supplied their cell phone numbers and
emergency contact information to their Principal and/or designate.

Employees should report any emergencies or work-related injuries to their Principal and/or
designate within 24 hours or at the earliest reasonable opportunity. Work related injuries
are to be reported to WorkSafeBC (WSBC) as per WCBC regulations.

In the event of a medical or other emergency requiring immediate action from fire, police
or medical department, employees must dial 9-1-1.

If employees will be working alone in their remote work environment (i.e. if there are no

other adults in the residence), then they must inform their Principal and/or designate of the
fact.

91 of 98



c) Employees are expected to maintain professional dress when attending virtual meetings
related to work.

d) Employees must ensure that there are security measures in place to protect Prince Rupert
School District data and information. Employees should be aware of their obligations under
the Prince Rupert School District Technology Policies.

Employees are not permitted to download or store any Prince Rupert School District data or
information onto their personal computers or onto any device other than those provided by
the Prince Rupert School District. Employees also must not forward any such documents to
their personal email address.

Employees should take care to ensure that they are the only individuals who are able to
access Prince Rupert School District records and that their devices have appropriate
settings. Some steps include:
e Logging off or shutting down their laptop or home computer when not in use;
e Setting the automatic logoff or lock screen after a short period of idleness;
e Password protection on all devices used to access work related data, including emails
(phones, laptops, tablets, computers);
e Ensuring that software, including security software, is up to date;
e Only downloading applications/software from an approved source (i.e. from the
device's app store, not from the internet);
¢ Not sharing a laptop or home computer containing personal information related to
work with other individuals, including family members or friends;
o If physical records are at home, storing those records in a location that protects the
privacy of students, parents/guardians and staff;
e Avoiding sending personal information by email from public locations or using public
WIFI;
e Encrypting any electronic device that stores personal information. This includes but is
not limited to home computers, USB flash sticks, laptops and mobile phones; and
e Reporting any suspicious activity (e.g. suspicious emails) before clicking on any links.

If any device containing personal information is stolen or lost, employees must
immediately notify their Principal and/or designate.

e) Employees should limit the stress on the Prince Rupert School District VPN (school Virtual
Private Network) system.

Employees should only use the remote system for employment related purposes and
should log onto the system only when necessary. Employees should sign off, rather than

disconnect, when away from the computer.

In addition, employees should not use the remote system to access streaming videos,
unless requested to do so as part of their employment.

92 of 98



References:

BC Office of Information and Privacy:
e Mobile Devices: Tips for Security & Privacy:
https://www.oipc.bc.ca/guidance-documents/1994
e Protecting personal information away from the office:
https://www.oipc.bc.ca/guidance-documents/1447

WorkSafeBC:

e Health and safety responsibilities when working from home:
https://www.worksafebc.com/en/about-us/news-
events/announcements/2020/March/health-safety-responsibilities-when-working-
from-home

Government of BC

e Emergency Preparedness for Working at Home:
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/career-myhr/all-employees/work-
arrangements/flexible-workplaces/emergency-preparedness

e Safety Inspection for Working at home:
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/career-myhr/all-employees/work-
arrangements/flexible-workplaces/safety-inspection

e Flexible Workplaces & Information Security:
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/career-myhr/all-employees/work-
arrangements/flexible-workplaces/information-security

Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety:
e https://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/hsprograms/telework.html

93 of 98



RUPERT TELEWORK — HOME SAFETY CHECKLIST

SchoolDitictNo.52 Refer to your designated work area when completing

—- —

REVIEW THIS CHECKLIST BEFORE BEGINNING TELEWORK

ITEM — DIRECTION OF SAFE WORK

Discusses with Supervisor meant to maintain regular contact and how direction will be provided related to
a safe working environment.

Arrange and confirm a method or a schedule for working-alone communications between the employee
with the supervisor. This is especially important in the event that no other responsible adult is present
within the work location.

Employee confirms a process for summoning assistance is present.

Employee will report to the supervisor any work-related injury, accident, or incident and do so on the same
day as the event.

Employee will seek immediate medical attention for any work-related injuries.

Employee to notify supervisor if any risk of violence present in the home.

ITEM - ERGONOMIC HAZARDS

Inspect your work area — prevention of physical strain on employee — consideration of potential hazards
(i.e., proper desk and chair, proper lighting, low noise).

Work area allows for an efficient work environment (e.g. place for documents, confidentiality (no one can
read what's on your screen, etc.).

Ergonomic documentation provided in telework agreement was reviewed.

Proper posture —sitting/standing (refer to sit-stand safety tip).

ITEM - ELECTRICAL HAZARDS

Will the work area create any electrical hazard (i.e. using multiple power cords).

Electrical outlets in good (i.e. lose panel).

Electrical cords are safe for use (no damage, no madification, proper length).

Proper use of power bars and extension cords, not placed to create trip hazard.

Employee will check for compatibility of cords and plugs for devices.

ITEM - GENERAL HAZARDS

Free of tripping hazards around the work area.

Any hazards that may fall or tip over onto the work area.

Void of hazards/distractions present in the work area (i.e. pets, children, stairs).

ITEM - FIRST AID/ EMERGENCY PROCEDURES

First aid is not required in a workplace of one, but employee has a means to summon assistance when
working alone.

Employee’s method for getting in touch with Supervisor/Administrator (Emergency contacts posted and
programmed into your phone).

Identified two (2) safe places to go in the event of an emergency.

Supervisor was provided with emergency phone numbers.

- ITEM - SECURITY/ CONFIDENTIALITY

Equipment and documents in the wok area are secured (breach of security).

Locking computer when not in use.

Information on screen and work-related documents are kept away from others at home (maintaining
confidentiality).

ITEM — OTHER HOME AREA HAZARDS

Working smoke detector and carbon monoxide detector YES/NO

Readily accessible and currently serviced fire extinguisher YES/NO

94 of 98




Policy No. 6510
Date Approved:
Date Amended:  21-February-2023

6510 Board Communications Policy

POLICY

Board communications support the Board's vision, mission, and goals, while allowing the
Board to build and promote trusting, effective relationships with Rights Holders, school
communities, local communities and partner groups.

Board communications provide the means for local communities and partner groups to
participate in school district planning and to be informed about educational issues and
services. The Board actively seeks and listens to the voices of Rights Holders, school
communities, local communities and partner groups through DPAC, PAC, correspondence
to the Board and attendance at open board meetings of the board, with respect to the
school district's vision, mission, foundational principles, goals, policies, and plans.

When appropriate, the Board will conduct surveys, hold forums, or use other appropriate
means to garner input and feedback.

The Board Chair is the primary spokesperson for the Board. The Board Chair or designate
speaks on matters such as governance, policy and Board decisions.

The Superintendent of Schools is the primary spokesperson on matters such as the
leadership and operation of the school district. The Superintendent or designate speaks
on educational, administrative, management, fiscal, planning, and organizational matters
of the school district.

REFERENCES

¢ Policy 6130, Role of the Board Policy

e Policy 6140, Role of the Trustee and Trustee Code of Conduct Policy
¢ Policy 6310, Role of the Superintendent Policy

Page 1 of 1 95 of 98



Policy No. 6610
Date Approved: December 14, 2010
Date Amended:  21-February-2023

6610 Making Policy and Regulations

Policy development is a key responsibility of the Board. Policies constitute the will of the
Board in determining how the District will be operated. Policies provide effective
direction and guidelines for the action of the Board, Superintendent, Secretary-
Treasurer, staff and students. Policies also serve as sources of information and guidelines
to all who may be interested in or connected with the operation of the District.
Adoption of new Board Policies or revision of existing Policies is solely the responsibility
of the Board.

When making policy the Board will adhere to the requirements necessary to provide
public education and comply with the School Act, other provincial legislation and other
contractual agreements (for example, the Aboriginal Education Partnership Agreement).
The Board believes that the development and review of policies are enhanced when the
process allows for the meaningful involvement of staff and other interested groups and
persons.

Board policies shall provide an appropriate balance between the responsibility of the
Board to develop the broad guidelines for the District and the opportunity for the
Superintendent and Secretary-Treasurer to exercise professional judgment in the
administration of the District.

The policy development process shall ensure that:

e Trustees act on adequate information.

e Policies are consistent with legislation or provincial directions.

e New policies, or policy changes, are examined through a lens of diversity and
equity.

e Opportunity is provided for groups significantly affected by policies to provide
opinion or reaction to proposals either directly or through appropriate
representation.

The Board shall adhere to the following stages in its approach to policy making:
1. Planning

The Board shall assess the need for a policy in cooperation with the Superintendent and
Secretary-Treasurer. This may be as a result of its own monitoring activities or on the

96 of 98



suggestion of others. The critical attributes of the policy will be developed in the
planning stage.

2. Development

The Board may develop the policy itself or could delegate the responsibility for
development to the Superintendent and/or Secretary-Treasurer. Each policy statement
must be precise enough to show clearly the Board's intent and consider the need for the
Superintendent and Secretary-Treasurer to have discretion in dealing with particular
cases. The process for the development and review of policies will allow for the
participation of interested and concerned groups and individuals as appropriate to their
circumstances.

3. Consultation

Any trustee, employee, taxpayer, parent, student or Parent Advisory Council of the
District may make suggestions regarding the possible development of a policy or the
need for policy revisions on any matter by presenting a proposal for a policy or
revisions, in writing, to the Superintendent. The proposal shall contain a brief statement
of purpose or rationale.

4. Adoption

Subsequent to the consultation period, the policy shall be brought forward to a Board
Meeting, with the feedback summarized, for any further discussion and final approval.

Should the extent of feedback be such that the Board feels the policy would benefit
from further input, the policy may be referred to the Policy Committee.

The Board has the ability to make amendments to policy without public consultation in
cases where the changes are of a minor housekeeping nature, or the amendment does
not affect the general intent of the policy.

5. Implementation
The Board is responsible for the implementation of policies governing its own processes.
The Board and Superintendent share the responsibility for implementation of policies

relating to the Board-Superintendent relationship. The Superintendent and Secretary-
Treasurer are responsible for the implementation of all other policies.

97 of 98



6. Evaluation

The Board, in cooperation with the Superintendent and Secretary-Treasurer, shall
evaluate each policy in a timely manner in order to determine whether or not it is
meeting its intended purpose.

7. Policy Currency
The Superintendent and/or Secretary Treasurer shall be responsible for calling the
Board's attention to any policies that are out of date or, for other reasons, appear to

need revision.

The Board will review governance policies at least once, within the Board's term of
office.

The Superintendent is responsible for approving regulations which provide specific
guidance for the implementation of Board policies.

Administration in Policy Absence

In the absence of Board policy, in emergent matters, the Superintendent may act at the
Superintendent's discretion and advise the Board Chairperson. If necessitated, the
Superintendent will inform the Board of the potential need for future policy

development.

References:
6610-10 Making Policy and Regulations Regulation

98 of 98





